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ANNUAL 2024 SHAREHOLDER LETTER

FUND REVIEW & DISCUSSION OF 
PERFORMANCE

On November 20, 2024, Carlyle Credit Income Fund 
(“we,” “us,” “our,” “CCIF” or the “Fund”) (NYSE: CCIF) 
announced via press release the financial results for the 
fourth quarter ending September 30, 2024. Over the past 
year, the Fund has successfully implemented the following: 

• Constructed a diversified portfolio of 49 unique 
collateralized loan obligation (“CLO”) 
investments managed by 27 different collateral 
managers with exposure to 1,916 separate loans. 
The weighted average GAAP yield of the 
portfolio is 18.63% as of September 30, 2024.

• We increased the monthly dividend to $0.1050 
per common share in March 2024. We have 
maintained this dividend and it is declared 
through February 2025. This equates to a 15.2% 
annualized dividend rate based on the share price 
as of November 19, 2024.

• We have grown the Fund through accretive 
issuance of common equity and flexible long-term 
preferred capital to leverage the Fund:

◦ We implemented an at-the-market 
(“ATM”) offering program to issue 
common shares at a premium to net asset 
value (“NAV”) for net proceeds of $16.8 
million through September 30, 2024.

◦ We leveraged the Fund through the 
issuance of 8.75% Series A Term 
Preferred Stock due 2028 with a total of 
$52 million.

◦ We completed a private placement of 
7.125% convertible preferred shares due 
2029. Concurrently, we issued 1.4 
million of our common shares through a 
registered direct placement at a price 
above the Fund’s NAV per common 
share. Total net proceeds from these 
offerings were approximately $22.2 
million.

As of September 30, 2024, the NAV of the Fund is $7.64 
per share. 

We believe Carlyle has differentiated insights into the CLO 
market given its 15 year track record of CLO investing and 
team of over 30 credit analysts across the U.S. and Europe. 
Carlyle remains one of the largest CLO managers globally 

with over $50 billion of AUM and $2.5 billion in third 
party managed CLO investments.1,2

MARKET REVIEW

Year-to-date (“YTD”) 2024, leveraged loan returns remain 
robust even as the market begins to anticipate the onset of 
the rate-cutting cycle. The LSTA U.S. Leveraged Loan 
Index (the “LSTA Index”) has returned 6.54% YTD, on 
track for one of the strongest years of performance over the 
past 10+ years.3 In late May, the LSTA Index reached a bid 
price of $96.99, which is its highest level since May 2022.3

Through October month-end, institutional gross loan 
issuance totals over $1 trillion, which will result in the 
highest annual amount on record.4 Over $500 billion of 
loans have been repriced YTD and borrowers have reduced 
spread by 50 basis points (“bps”) with each repricing, 
resulting in an overall spread decline of 20 bps in the loan 
market.4 However, excluding refinancings and repricings, 
new issue loan volume remains fairly muted including 
approximately $100 billion of leveraged buyout or M&A 
activity YTD.4 

The CLO market experienced robust issuance activity 
amidst tightening spreads in global fixed income and a 
stable backdrop for credit. CLO new issue YTD totals 
$158.1 billion and may surpass 2021’s record $184.8 
billion.5 The weighted average cost of debt for broadly 
syndicated loan (“BSL”) CLO issuance declined from 230 
bps in Q3 2023 to 176 bps in Q3 2024.5 As a result, 
volumes for CLO refinancings, which reduce a CLO’s 
financing costs, and resets, which typically extend a CLO’s 
reinvestment period (“RP”) to a fresh 5 years, have surged. 
YTD CLO refinancing and reset activity of $65.8 billion 
and $166.9 billion, respectively, have surpassed full-year 
2023 volumes of $5.0 billion and $19.6 billion.5 CLO reset 
activity remains on record annual pace, including record 
monthly volumes in August of $26.2 billion.5 Within 
CCIF’s portfolio, we continue to work with CLO managers 
and have completed 7 resets YTD, extending the RP, and 
cash flows, of these CLOs.6 

From a fundamental perspective, U.S. loan borrowers have 
remained resilient. As a proxy for third-party managed 
CLOs, the 600+ borrowers in Carlyle’s U.S. loan portfolio 
have continued to focus on free cash flow generation. Q2 
2024 borrower EBITDA growth of 9.0% has outpaced 
revenue growth of 5.4%.2 Furthermore, the average interest 
coverage ratio (“ICR”) of borrowers increased quarter-
over-quarter to 3.3x and approaches the historical average 

1

1 Creditflux as of September 30, 2024.
2 Carlyle Internal Sources as of June 30, 2024.
3 Leveraged Commentary & Data (“LCD”) as of September 30, 2024.
4 LevFin Insights as of October 31, 2024.
5 Citi Research as of October 31, 2024.
6 CCIF Portfolio as of September 30, 2024.



of 3.9x.2 Notably, in-court and out-of-court bankruptcy 
activity continue to diverge. While the LSTA Index LTM 
default rate of 0.80% remains less than half of its 20-year 
average, the default rate inclusive of distressed exchanges 
(“DEs”) remains higher at 3.70%.7 Carlyle continues to 
leverage the insights of its dedicated Special Credits Group 
and over 30 credit analysts when evaluating loan borrowers 
in third-party managed CLO portfolios, evidenced by a 
CCIF portfolio default rate of 1.54% inclusive of DEs, 
which is less than half of the market’s rate.6

 CLO liquidations have increased to $40 billion YTD 2024, 
driven by increasing net asset values and the elevated 
number of CLOs post-RP.8Additionally, CLO market 
amortization rates have remained elevated resulting in $60 
billion of amortizations. With the combination of over $60 
billion of amortizations and $40 billion of liquidations, the 
CLO market has experienced approximately $30 billion of 
growth YTD in 2024 despite the record issuance pace.5,8

CLO equity continues to produce attractive current yields 
as Q3 2024 cash-on-cash distributions averaged 4% based 
on par purchase price, in-line with the historical mid-to-
high teens yield produced by CLO equity.9

STRATEGY & OUTLOOK

We remain pleased with the diversified portfolio that we 
have created allowing CCIF to pay a $0.1050 per share 
monthly dividend. Leveraged credit and broader economic 
conditions continue to support the health of the CLO equity 
market.

We believe investor sentiment will continue to remain 
strong for CLOs, evidenced by robust CLO creation 
following the Federal Reserve’s latest interest rate 
decision. Additionally, the forward interest rate curve and 
anticipated rate cuts may not reflect the strength of the U.S. 
economy based on Carlyle’s Chief Economist. Therefore, 
Carlyle has started to observe a market recalibration of rate 
expectations. Given CLO equity is modeled using a 
forward curve for base rates, current yields account for 
future rate cut predictions.

Based on trends of borrowers held within Carlyle-managed 
CLOs, we believe loan fundamentals will remain resilient. 
For example, only 3% of borrowers possess ICRs of less 
than 1.0x, an indicator of the ability to service existing 
debt.2 Furthermore, we continue to position CCIF’s 
portfolio defensively with higher quality managers and 
deals with enhanced structural subordination, as evidenced 
by the portfolio’s weighted average junior over-
collateralization cushion of 4.33%.6 

Due to record reset activity, the percentage of the U.S. 
CLO market out of RP has declined from 40% at the start 

of 2024 to 33%, but still remains elevated compared to 
historical figures.8 CCIF’s portfolio only has 2 CLO 
positions outside of their RP, both of which were 
opportunistic purchases.6 

While we anticipate that CLO amortization rates will 
moderate, we still think that investors will continue to 
redeploy proceeds in new issue CLOs in conjunction with 
liquidation activity. This could imply further tightening in 
CLO primary spreads which may benefit CLO equity. As 
such, we believe a number of CLO equity investment 
opportunities may emerge in the coming months based on 
YTD 2024 CLO market activity.

The CLO market should continue to experience robust 
issuance from sustained stability in loan market 
fundamentals. For CCIF, we remain focused on 
constructing a defensive portfolio of CLO equity with 
clean underlying loan portfolios. We continue to leverage 
Carlyle’s 14-step CLO investment process and the credit 
expertise of the broader Carlyle Liquid Credit platform.

2

7 J.P. Morgan Research as of September 30, 2024.
8 Nomura Research as of September 30, 2024.
9 Bank of America Global Research as of September 30, 2024.



IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THIS REPORT AND CARLYLE CREDIT INCOME FUND

Investment Objectives and Strategies

The Fund is a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company that has registered as an investment 
company under the 1940 Act. We have elected to be treated, and intend to qualify annually, as a regulated investment company, 
or “RIC,” under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the “Code.” 

The Fund’s primary investment objective is to generate current income, with a secondary objective to generate capital 
appreciation. We seek to achieve our investment objectives by investing primarily in equity and junior debt tranches of 
collateralized loan obligations, or “CLOs,” that are collateralized by a portfolio consisting primarily of below investment grade 
U.S. senior secured loans with a large number of distinct underlying borrowers across various industry sectors. We may also 
invest in other related securities and instruments or other securities and instruments that the Adviser believes are consistent with 
our investment objectives, including senior debt tranches of CLOs, loan accumulation facilities (“LAFs”) and securities issued 
by other securitization vehicles, such as collateralized bond obligations, or “CBOs.” LAFs are short- to medium-term facilities 
often provided by the bank that will serve as the placement agent or arranger on a CLO transaction. LAFs typically incur 
leverage between four and six times equity value prior to a CLO’s pricing. The CLO securities in which we primarily seek to 
invest are unrated or rated below investment grade and are considered speculative with respect to timely payment of interest and 
repayment of principal. Unrated and below investment grade securities are also sometimes referred to as “junk” securities. In 
addition, the CLO equity and junior debt securities in which we invest are highly leveraged (with CLO equity securities 
typically being leveraged ten times), which magnifies our risk of loss on such investments. 

“Names Rule” Policy

In accordance with the requirements of the 1940 Act, we have adopted a policy to invest at least 80% of our assets in 
the particular type of investments suggested by our name. Accordingly, under normal circumstances, we invest at least 80% of 
the aggregate of its net assets and borrowings for investment purposes in credit and credit-related instruments. For purposes of 
this policy, the Fund considers credit and credit-related instruments to include, without limitation: (i) equity and debt tranches 
of CLOs, LAFs and securities issued by other securitization vehicles, such as CBOs; (ii) secured and unsecured floating rate 
and fixed rate loans; (iii) investments in corporate debt obligations, including bonds, notes, debentures, commercial paper and 
other obligations of corporations to pay interest and repay principal; (iv) debt issued by governments, their agencies, 
instrumentalities, and central banks; (v) commercial paper and short-term notes; (vi) convertible debt securities; (vii) 
certificates of deposit, bankers’ acceptances and time deposits; and (viii) other credit-related instruments. The Fund’s 
investments in derivatives, other investment companies, and other instruments designed to obtain indirect exposure to credit and 
credit-related instruments will be counted towards its 80% investment policy to the extent such instruments have similar 
economic characteristics to the investments included within that policy. 

Our 80% policy with respect to investments in credit and credit-related instruments is not fundamental and may be 
changed by the Board without prior approval of our shareholders. Shareholders will be provided with sixty (60) days notice in 
the manner prescribed by the SEC before making any change to this policy.

Investment Restrictions

The Fund’s stated fundamental policies, which may only be changed by the affirmative vote of a majority of the 
outstanding voting securities of the Fund (the shares), are listed below. “Majority of the outstanding voting securities of the 
Fund” means the vote, at an annual or special meeting of shareholders, duly called, (a) of 67% or more of the shares present at 
such meeting, if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares are present or represented by proxy; or (b) of more than 
50% of the outstanding shares, whichever is less. The Fund may not:

1. Borrow money, except to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act (which currently limits borrowing to no more than 
33-1/3% of the value of the Fund’s total assets, including the value of the assets purchased with the proceeds of its 
indebtedness, if any). The Fund may borrow for investment purposes, for temporary liquidity, or to finance 
repurchases of its shares.

2. Issue senior securities, except to the extent permitted by Section 18 of the 1940 Act (which currently limits the 
issuance of a class of senior securities that is indebtedness to no more than 33-1/3% of the value of the Fund’s total 
assets or, if the class of senior security is stock, to no more than 50% of the value of the Fund’s total assets).

3. Underwrite securities of other issuers, except insofar as the Fund may be deemed an underwriter under the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) in connection with the disposition of its portfolio securities. The Fund 
may invest in restricted securities (those that must be registered under the Securities Act before they may be offered or 
sold to the public) to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act.

3



4. Invest more than 25% of the market value of its assets in the securities of companies, entities or issuers engaged in any 
one industry. This limitation does not apply to investment in the securities of the U.S. Government, its agencies or 
instrumentalities. For purposes of this restriction, an investment in a CLO, CBO, collateralized debt obligation, or 
“CDO” or a swap or other derivative will be considered to be an investment in the industry (if any) of the underlying 
or reference security, instrument or asset.

5. Purchase or sell real estate or interests in real estate. This limitation is not applicable to investments in securities that 
are secured by or represent interests in real estate (e.g. mortgage loans evidenced by notes or other writings defined to 
be a type of security). Additionally, the preceding limitation on real estate or interests in real estate does not preclude 
the Fund from investing in mortgage-related securities or investing in companies engaged in the real estate business or 
that have a significant portion of their assets in real estate (including real estate investment trusts), nor from disposing 
of real estate that may be acquired pursuant to a foreclosure (or equivalent procedure) upon a security interest.

6. Purchase or sell commodities, commodity contracts, including commodity futures contracts, unless acquired as a result 
of ownership of securities or other investments, except that the Fund may invest in securities or other instruments 
backed by or linked to commodities, and invest in companies that are engaged in a commodities business or have a 
significant portion of their assets in commodities, and may invest in commodity pools and other entities that purchase 
and sell commodities and commodity contracts.

7. Make loans to others, except (a) through the purchase of debt securities in accordance with its investment objectives 
and policies, including notes secured by real estate, which may be considered loans; (b) to the extent the entry into a 
repurchase agreement is deemed to be a loan; and (c) by loaning portfolio securities. Additionally, the preceding 
limitation on loans does not preclude the Fund from modifying note terms.

The Fund will treat with respect to participation interests both the financial intermediary and the borrower as “issuers” 
for purposes of fundamental investment restriction.

The fundamental investment limitations set forth above restrict the ability of the Fund to engage in certain practices 
and purchase securities and other instruments other than as permitted by, or consistent with, applicable law, including the 1940 
Act. Relevant limitations of the 1940 Act as they presently exist are described below. These limitations are based either on the 
1940 Act itself, the rules or regulations thereunder or applicable orders of the SEC. In addition, interpretations and guidance 
provided by the SEC staff may be taken into account to determine if a certain practice or the purchase of securities or other 
instruments is permitted by the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or applicable orders of the SEC. As a result, the 
foregoing fundamental investment policies may be interpreted differently over time as the statute, rules, regulations or orders 
(or, if applicable, interpretations) that relate to the meaning and effect of these policies change, and no vote of Shareholders, as 
applicable, will be required or sought.

Use of Leverage and Leverage Risks

The use of leverage, whether directly or indirectly through investments such as CLO equity or junior debt securities 
that inherently involve leverage, may magnify our risk of loss. CLO equity or junior debt securities are very highly leveraged 
(with CLO equity securities typically being leveraged ten times), and therefore the CLO securities in which we invest are 
subject to a higher degree of loss since the use of leverage magnifies losses.

We may incur leverage, directly or indirectly, through one or more special purpose vehicles (entities primarily engaged 
in investment activities in securities or other assets that are wholly owned by the Fund), indebtedness for borrowed money, as 
well as leverage in the form of Derivative Transactions, preferred shares, debt securities and other structures and instruments, in 
significant amounts and on terms that the Adviser and the Board deem appropriate, subject to applicable limitations under the 
1940 Act. Such leverage may be used for the acquisition and financing of our investments, to pay fees and expenses and for 
other purposes. Such leverage may be secured and/or unsecured. Any such leverage does not include leverage embedded or 
inherent in the CLO structures in which we invest or in derivative instruments in which we may invest. Accordingly, there is a 
layering of leverage in our overall structure.

The more leverage we employ, the more likely a substantial change will occur in our NAV. Accordingly, any event 
that adversely affects the value of an investment would be magnified to the extent leverage is utilized. For instance, any 
decrease in our income would cause net income to decline more sharply than it would have had we not borrowed. Such a 
decline could also negatively affect our ability to make distributions and other payments to our security holders. Leverage is 
generally considered a speculative investment technique. Our ability to service any debt that we incur will depend largely on 
our financial performance and will be subject to prevailing economic conditions and competitive pressures. The cumulative 
effect of the use of leverage with respect to any investments in a market that moves adversely to such investments could result 
in a substantial loss that would be greater than if our investments were not leveraged.
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As a registered closed-end management investment company, we are required to meet certain asset coverage 
requirements, as defined under the 1940 Act, with respect to any senior securities. With respect to senior securities representing 
indebtedness (i.e., borrowings or deemed borrowings, including any notes), other than temporary borrowings as defined under 
the 1940 Act, we are required under current law to have an asset coverage of at least 300%, as measured at the time of 
borrowing and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) 
over the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness. With respect to senior securities that 
are stock (i.e., our preferred shares), we are required under current law to have an asset coverage of at least 200%, as measured 
at the time of the issuance of any such preferred shares and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and 
indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior securities representing 
indebtedness plus the aggregate liquidation preference of any outstanding preferred shares. If legislation were passed that 
modifies this section of the 1940 Act and increases the amount of senior securities that we may incur, we may increase our 
leverage to the extent then permitted by the 1940 Act and the risks associated with an investment in us may increase.

If our asset coverage declines below 300% (or 200%, as applicable), we would not be able to incur additional debt or 
issue additional preferred shares, and could be required by law to sell a portion of our investments to repay some debt or 
redeem preferred shares when it is disadvantageous to do so, which could have a material adverse effect on our operations, and 
we may not be able to make certain distributions or pay dividends of an amount necessary to continue to be subject to tax as a 
RIC. The amount of leverage that we employ will depend on the Adviser’s and the Board’s assessment of market and other 
factors at the time of any proposed borrowing. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain credit at all or on terms 
acceptable to us.

In addition, any debt facility into which we may enter would likely impose financial and operating covenants that 
restrict our business activities, including limitations that could hinder our ability to finance additional loans and investments or 
to make the distributions required to maintain our ability to be subject to tax as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code.

The following table illustrates the effects of the Fund’s leverage due to senior securities on corresponding share total 
return, assuming investment portfolio total returns (consisting of income and changes in the value of investments held in the 
Fund’s portfolio) of -10%, -5%, 0%, 5% and 10%. These assumed investment portfolio returns are hypothetical figures and are 
not necessarily indicative of the investment portfolio returns expected to be experienced by the Fund. Your actual returns may 
be greater or less than those appearing below. 

The following table assumes the Fund’s continued use of Preferred Shares representing approximately 35.07% of the 
Fund’s Managed Assets as of September 30, 2024, and the Fund bears expenses relating to such Preferred Shares at an 
annualized average interest rate of 8.46%. The table below also assumes that the annual return that the Fund’s portfolio must 
experience (net of expenses not related to Preferred Shares) in order to cover the costs of such leverage would be approximately 
2.97%.

Assumed Return on Portfolio (Net of Expenses) (10.00)% (5.00)% —% 5.00% 10.00%
Corresponding Share Total Return (19.97)% (12.27)% (4.57)% 3.13% 10.83%

Principal Risk Factors

For a description of the principal risk factors associated with an investment in the Fund, please refer to Note 5. Risk 
Factors, to the Financial Statements.

Additional Information

We file with or submit to the SEC annual and semi-annual reports, proxy statements and other information meeting the 
informational requirements of the Exchange Act or pursuant to Rule 30b2-1 under the 1940 Act. The SEC maintains a website 
that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information we file with the SEC at www.sec.gov. This 
information is also available free of charge on our website (www.carlylecreditincomefund.com) or by calling (866) 277-8243 
(toll-free).

Forward Looking Statements

This report may contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995. Statements other than statements of historical facts included in this report may constitute forward-looking 
statements and are not guarantees of future performance or results and involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Actual 
results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors, including those 
described in the Fund’s filings with the SEC. The Company undertakes no duty to update any forward-looking statement made 
herein. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report.
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PERFORMANCE DATA

The graph presented below compares the cumulative shareholder return on our common shares with that of the S&P 
BDC Index. The Fund commenced operations on September 20, 2013; however prior to the close of business on July 14, 2023, 
the Fund was advised by a different investment adviser that is not affiliated with the Fund’s current adviser and the Fund’s 
performance for periods prior to July 14, 2023 are not shown in the graph below. Effective at the close of business on July 14, 
2023, the Fund’s principal investment strategy was changed and the Fund seeks to achieve its investment objectives by 
investing primarily in equity and junior debt tranches of collateralized loan obligations, or “CLOs.” The Fund believes the S&P 
BDC Index is the most appropriate and relevant index for comparative purposes for this investment strategy.

The graph assumes an investment of $10,000 in the Fund since the change in investment adviser on July 14, 2023. 
Total return is calculated assuming reinvestment of all dividends and distributions. Returns shown do not reflect the deduction 
of taxes that a shareholder would pay on fund distributions or the repurchase of fund shares.

Past performance is not indicative of future results or a guarantee of future returns. Future results may vary and may be 
higher or lower than the data shown.

       

Annualized Total Return

Since 
Change in 
Strategy 
(July 14, 

2023)3 Month 6 Month 9 Month 1 Year
Carlyle Credit Income Fund 19.00% 27.39% 21.96% 17.21% 19.59%
S&P BDC Index (2.57)% 7.36% 13.32% 16.27% 16.97%
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN UNAUDITED PORTFOLIO CHARACTERISTICS

The information presented below is on a look-through basis to the collateralized loan obligation, or “CLO”, equity and related 
investments held by the Fund as of September 30, 2024, and reflects the aggregate underlying exposure of the Fund based on 
the portfolios of those investments. The data is estimated, unaudited, and derived from CLO trustee reports received by the 
Fund as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024 and from custody statements and/or other information received from 
CLO collateral managers, or third party sources.

Portfolio Investment Breakdown as of September 30, 2024

(Excludes cash equivalents and other assets)

Summary of Underlying Portfolio
Number of Unique Underlying Loan Obligors 1,367
Number of Underlying Loans 1,916
Aggregate Balance of Underlying Loans $24.34 Billion
Average Individual Loan Obligor Exposure  0.07 %
Currency: USD Exposure  100.00 %
Aggregate Indirect Exposure to Senior Secured Loans  96.58 %
Weighted Average Junior OC Cushion  4.33 %
Weighted Average Market Price of Loan Collateral 97.43
Weighted Average Remaining CLO Reinvestment Period 2.5 years
Last 12 Month Default Rate including Distressed Exchanges of Underlying Loans  1.54 %

7



        

Top 10 Underlying Obligors
Obligor % Total
TransDigm  0.61 %
Asurion  0.57 %
Medline  0.56 %
Sedgwick Claims Management Service  0.52 %
Caesars Entertainment  0.49 %
Peraton  0.48 %
TIBCO Software  0.47 %
Altice France  0.45 %
Brookfield WEC Holdings  0.44 %
Calpine  0.44 %
Total  5.03 %

Top 10 Industries of Underlying Obligors

Industry % Total
High Tech  12.53 %
Healthcare & Pharmaceuticals  11.44 %
Banking, Finance, Insurance & Real Estate  9.61 %
Services: Business  7.68 %
Hotels, Gaming & Leisure  5.36 %
Chemicals, Plastics & Rubber  4.87 %
Construction & Building  4.75 %
Capital Equipment  4.31 %
Aerospace & Defense  4.07 %
Telecommunications  3.89 %
Total  68.51 %

        Weighted Average Rating Distribution                                             Weighted Average Maturity Distribution
        Wtd Avg = B+                    Wtd Avg = 4.5 yrs

 

          Weighted Average Price Distribution                                 Weighted Average Spread Distribution
                    Wtd Avg = 97.43                           Wtd Avg = 3.46%
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FEES AND EXPENSES

The following table is intended to assist in understanding the costs and expenses that an investor in our common shares 
will bear, directly or indirectly, based on the assumptions set forth below. The expenses shown in the table under “Annual 
Expenses” are estimated amounts based on historical fees and expenses, as appropriate. We caution that some of the 
percentages indicated in the table below are estimates and may vary. Except where the context suggests otherwise, whenever 
this table contains a reference to our fees or expenses, we will pay such fees and expenses out of our net assets and, 
consequently, shareholders will indirectly bear such fees or expenses as investors in the Fund.

SHAREHOLDER TRANSACTION FEES
Sales load  — % (1)

Offering expenses borne by the Fund  — % (2)

Dividend reinvestment plan expenses  — % (3)

Total shareholder transaction fees  — % (4)

ESTIMATED ANNUAL FUND EXPENSES
(as a percentage of net assets attributable to common shares)

Management Fee  2.59 % (5)

Incentive Fee payable under Investment Advisory Agreement (17.5%)  2.76 % (6)

Interest payments and fees on borrowed funds  4.82 % (7)

Other Expenses  2.24 % (8)

Total annual fund expenses  12.41 %

1. In the event that the Fund sells its securities publicly through underwriters or agents the related prospectus supplement will disclose the 
applicable sales load.

2. In the event that the Fund sells its securities publicly through underwriters or agents the related prospectus supplement will disclose the 
estimated amount of total offering expenses (which may include offering expenses borne by third parties on the Fund’s behalf), the offering 
price and the offering expenses borne by the Fund as a percentage of the offering price.

3. The expenses of administering the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (the “DRP”) are included in “Other Expenses.” Investors will pay brokerage 
charges if they direct their broker or the DRP Plan agent to sell their Common Shares that they acquired pursuant to the DRP. See “Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan.”

4. The related prospectus supplement will disclose the offering price and the total stockholder transaction expenses as a percentage of the 
offering price.

5. The Management Fee is calculated and payable monthly in arrears at the annual rate of 1.75% of the month-end value of the Fund’s managed 
Assets. “Managed Assets” means the total assets of the Fund (including any assets attributable to any preferred shares or to indebtedness) 
minus the Fund’s liabilities other than liabilities relating to indebtedness.

6. The Fund shall pay CGCIM an Incentive Fee calculated and payable quarterly in arrears based upon the Fund’s “pre-incentive fee net 
investment income” for the immediately preceding quarter, and is subject to a hurdle rate, expressed as a rate of return on the Fund’s net 
assets, equal to 2.00% per quarter (or an annualized hurdle rate of 8.00%), subject to a “catch-up” feature. For this purpose, “pre-incentive fee 
net investment income” means interest income, dividend income, income generated from original issue discounts, payment-in-kind income, 
and any other income earned or accrued during the calendar quarter, minus the Fund’s operating expenses (which, for this purpose shall not 
include any distribution and/or shareholder servicing fees, litigation, any extraordinary expenses or Incentive Fee) for the quarter. For 
purposes of computing the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income, the calculation methodology will look through total return swaps 
as if the Fund owned the referenced assets directly. As a result, the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income includes net interest, if 
any, associated with a derivative or swap, which is the difference between (a) the interest income and transaction fees related to the reference 
assets and (b) all interest and other expenses paid by the Fund to the derivative or swap counterparty. “Net assets” means the total assets of 
the Fund minus the Fund’s liabilities. For purposes of the Incentive Fee, net assets are calculated for the relevant quarter as the weighted 
average of the net asset value of the Fund as of the first business day of each month therein. The weighted average net asset value shall be 
calculated for each month by multiplying the net asset value as of the beginning of the first business day of the month times the number of 
days in that month, divided by the number of days in the applicable calendar quarter.

The calculation of the Incentive Fee for each calendar quarter is as follows:

• No Incentive Fee is payable to CGCIM if the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income, expressed as a  percentage 
of the Fund’s net assets in respect of the relevant calendar quarter, does not exceed the quarterly hurdle rate of 2.00%;

• 100% of the portion of the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income that exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than or 
equal to 2.4242% (the “catch-up”) is payable to CGCIM if the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income, expressed 
as a percentage of the Fund’s net assets in respect of the relevant calendar quarter, exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than 
or equal to 2.4242% (9.6968% annualized). The “catch-up” provision is intended to provide CGCIM with an incentive fee 

9



of 17.5% on all of the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income when the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment 
income reaches 2.4242% of net assets; and

• 17.5% of the portion of the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income that exceeds the “catch-up” is payable to 
CGCIM if the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income, expressed as a percentage of the Fund’s net assets in 
respect of the relevant calendar quarter, exceeds 2.4242% (9.6968% annualized). As a result, once the hurdle rate is 
reached and the catch-up is achieved, 17.5% of all the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income thereafter is 
allocated to CGCIM.

7. The Fund may issue preferred shares or debt securities. The above figure assumes an aggregate of $52 million of the Fund’s Series A Term 
Preferred Shares with an interest rate of 8.75% per annum, and $11.5 million of the Fund’s Series B Convertible Preferred Shares with an 
interest rate of 7.125% per annum. In the event that the Fund were to issue additional preferred shares or debt securities, the Fund’s borrowing 
costs, and correspondingly its total annual expenses, including, in the case of such preferred shares, the base management fee as a percentage 
of the Fund’s net assets attributable to common shares, would increase.

8. “Other expenses” includes the Fund’s overhead expenses, including payments under the Administration Agreement based on the Fund’s 
allocable portion of overhead and other expenses incurred by Administrator, and payment of fees in connection with outsourced 
administrative functions, and are based on estimated amounts for the current fiscal year. “Other expenses” also includes the ongoing 
administrative expenses to the independent accountants and legal counsel of the Fund, compensation of independent directors, and costs and 
expenses relating to rating agencies.

The following examples illustrate the hypothetical expenses that would be paid on a $1,000 investment assuming 
annual expenses attributable to common shares remain unchanged and common shares earn a 5% annual return:

Example 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years
Expenses on a $1,000 investment, assuming a 5% 
annual return $127 $353 $545 $910

The example and the expenses in the tables above should not be considered a representation of the Fund’s future expenses, and 
actual expenses may be greater or less than those shown. While the example assumes a 5.0% annual return, as required by the 
SEC, the Fund’s performance will vary and may result in a return greater or less than 5.0%.
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CARLYLE CREDIT INCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
As of September 30, 2024 
(expressed in U.S. dollars)

September 30, 2024
ASSETS
Investments, at fair value (cost $184,008,668) $ 173,453,913 
Cash and cash equivalents  725,402 
Interest receivable  6,038,543 
Prepaid expenses  457,705 
Receivable for common shares issued pursuant to the Fund's dividend reinvestment plan  119,038 
Total assets $ 180,794,601 

LIABILITIES
Preferred Shares (net of unamortized deferred issuance costs of $2,645,568) (Note 7) $ 60,871,432 
Incentive fee payable  900,954 
Management fee payable  260,905 
Professional fees payable  635,885 
Interest payable  77,500 
Administration and custodian fees payable  46,109 
Other payables and accrued expenses  388,813 
Total liabilities $ 63,181,598 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 8)

Net Assets $ 117,613,003 

COMPOSITION OF NET ASSETS
Paid-in capital $ 125,310,011 
Total distributable earnings (losses)  (7,697,008) 
Total Net Assets $ 117,613,003 
Common shares outstanding (no par value)  15,387,448 
Net asset value per share of common stock $ 7.64 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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CLO - Equity(4)(5)

522 Funding CLO 2021-7, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 14.24%, 
4/23/2034) 7/27/2023 $ 4,505,000 $ 2,649,366 $ 2,347,367  2.00 %

AGL CLO 17, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 15.22%, 
1/21/2035) 5/6/2024  2,750,000  2,072,304  1,931,794  1.64 %

Aimco CLO 10, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 31.23%, 
7/22/2032) 11/27/2023  11,071,800  6,049,880  6,290,114  5.35 %

Aimco CLO 14, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 15.12%, 
4/20/2034) 7/17/2023  6,200,000  4,475,170  4,228,760  3.60 %

Apidos CLO XXXIII, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 16.29%, 
10/24/2034) 7/25/2024  4,000,000  2,928,200  2,813,880  2.39 %

Apidos CLO XXXIX, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 15.40%, 
4/21/2035) 5/2/2024  5,710,000  4,010,434  3,925,441  3.34 %

Ares LIX CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 22.88%, 
4/25/2034) 12/7/2023  8,000,000  4,713,812  5,058,711  4.30 %

Ares LVI CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 21.90%, 
10/25/2034) 8/24/2023  3,900,000  2,435,090  2,562,165  2.18 %

Ares LX CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 24.52%, 
7/18/2034) 11/29/2023  1,600,000  820,994  919,454  0.78 %

Ballyrock CLO 15, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 16.60%, 
4/15/2034) 8/16/2023  5,000,000  3,330,018  3,162,917  2.69 %

Ballyrock CLO 16, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 18.29%, 
7/20/2034) 8/20/2024  5,000,000  3,195,000  3,168,458  2.69 %

Ballyrock CLO 18, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 13.49%, 
1/15/2035) 8/16/2023  2,500,000  1,726,933  1,494,190  1.27 %

Ballyrock CLO 19, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 14.96%, 
4/20/2035) 5/6/2024  4,300,000  2,724,051  2,528,035  2.15 %

Barings CLO, Ltd. 2019-III
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 28.74%, 
4/20/2031) (6) 12/13/2023  5,250,000  2,567,872  2,408,223  2.05 %

Barings CLO, Ltd. 2021-I
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 19.91%, 
4/25/2034) 7/17/2023  3,400,000  2,038,280  1,866,005  1.59 %

Benefit Street Partners CLO XXIII, 
Ltd.

Subordinated Notes (effective yield 21.60%, 
4/25/2034) 8/2/2023  10,000,000  6,780,053  6,744,863  5.73 %

Birch Grove CLO 3, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 15.30%, 
7/20/2034) 9/04/2024  5,000,000  4,150,000  4,128,401  3.51 %

CIFC Funding 2020-III, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 16.44%, 
10/20/2034) 9/20/2023  8,750,000  6,623,682  6,301,512  5.36 %

Elmwood CLO 16, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 16.25%, 
4/20/2034) 8/10/2023  6,000,000  3,596,602  3,822,452  3.25 %

Elmwood CLO I, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 14.35%, 
4/20/2037) 9/10/2024  7,010,000  5,007,593  5,102,296  4.34 %

Elmwood CLO VI, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 19.53%, 
10/20/2034) 7/17/2023  2,000,000  1,219,379  1,393,890  1.19 %

Elmwood CLO VII, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 22.37%, 
1/17/2034) 7/17/2023  2,000,000  1,102,028  1,196,862  1.02 %

Empower CLO 2022-1, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 16.84%, 
10/20/2037) 9/27/2024  6,500,000  6,516,250  6,509,118  5.53 %

Galaxy XXII CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 19.95%, 
4/16/2034) 12/15/2023  3,560,000  1,923,783  1,675,143  1.42 %

Invesco CLO 2021-1, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 17.54%, 
4/15/2034) 9/20/2023  5,000,000  3,170,403  2,457,980  2.09 %

Invesco CLO 2022-1, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 19.29%, 
4/20/2035) 10/25/2023  5,500,000  3,257,800  2,895,749  2.46 %

KKR CLO 25, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 21.92%, 
7/15/2034) 12/11/2023  2,500,000  1,623,181  1,653,087  1.41 %

KKR CLO 31, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 20.69%, 
4/20/2034) 12/7/2023  6,000,000  4,128,321  3,940,842  3.35 %

KKR CLO 33, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 20.80%, 
7/20/2034) 9/13/2023  5,000,000  3,279,645  3,011,368  2.56 %

Madison Park Funding LXII, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 14.93%, 
7/17/2036) 7/25/2023  12,000,000  8,632,020  6,944,660  5.90 %

Magnetite XIX, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 13.72%, 
4/17/2034) 9/15/2023  8,614,583  5,271,114  4,469,147  3.80 %

MidOcean Credit CLO XI, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 23.17%, 
10/18/2033) 1/12/2024  6,250,000  3,942,829  3,630,182  3.09 %

Issuer (1)(7) Investment Description
Acquisition 

Date (2)
Principal 
Amount Cost Fair Value (3)

% of Net 
Assets

CARLYLE CREDIT INCOME FUND
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS
As of September 30, 2024
(expressed in U.S. dollars)
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MidOcean Credit CLO XIV, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 13.39%, 
4/15/2037) 2/15/2024 $ 6,750,000 $ 4,743,456 $ 4,534,020  3.86 %

Neuberger Berman Loan Advisers 
CLO 38, Ltd.

Subordinated Notes (effective yield 16.38%, 
10/20/2035) 8/1/2023  9,500,000  5,543,626  5,408,974  4.60 %

Neuberger Berman Loan Advisers 
CLO 41, Ltd.

Subordinated Notes (effective yield 15.41%, 
4/15/2034) 11/1/2023  4,500,000  2,744,213  2,585,115  2.20 %

Niagara Park CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 35.91%, 
7/17/2032) 12/1/2023  6,850,000  3,603,707  3,336,466  2.84 %

OCP CLO 2015-9, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 24.92%, 
1/15/2033) 12/6/2023  13,000,000  4,661,043  4,441,180  3.77 %

OCP CLO 2024-34, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 13.47%, 
10/15/2037) 7/2/2024  5,000,000  4,120,855  4,195,136  3.57 %

Octagon 55, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 20.26%, 
7/20/2034) 7/19/2023  6,000,000  3,256,512  3,002,302  2.55 %

OHA Credit Partners XIII, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 20.72%, 
10/21/2034) 7/17/2023  2,950,000  1,660,579  2,287,728  1.95 %

Rad CLO 3, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 16.95%, 
7/15/2037) (6) 9/4/2024  15,392,500  10,250,122  10,538,115  8.95 %

RR 12, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 22.43%, 
1/15/2036) 7/31/2024  8,542,000  2,680,052  2,427,667  2.06 %

RR 2, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 14.94%, 
4/15/2036) 1/18/2024  11,000,000  6,539,814  5,525,264  4.70 %

RR 6, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 19.75%, 
4/15/2036) 4/25/2024  2,206,250  1,583,020  1,373,933  1.16 %

Signal Peak CLO 10, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 20.47%, 
1/24/2035) 3/28/2024  3,000,000  1,604,615  1,334,093  1.13 %

Voya CLO 2020-2, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 18.21%, 
7/19/2034) 8/2/2023  10,500,000  7,996,280  6,842,791  5.82 %

Voya CLO 2020-3, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (effective yield 18.59%, 
10/20/2034) 8/3/2023  4,000,000  2,884,492  2,676,271  2.28 %

Total CLO Equity $ 179,834,473 $ 171,092,121  145.47 %

CLO - Subordinated Fee Note (4)(5)

Invesco CLO 2022-1, Ltd.
Subordinated Fee Notes (effective yield 
31.70%, 4/20/2035) 10/25/2023 $ 550,000 $ 122,753 $ 146,239  0.13 %

Neuberger Berman Loan Advisers 
CLO 38, Ltd.

Subordinated Fee Notes (effective yield 
21.34%, 10/20/2035) 8/1/2023  69,788  47,563  40,553  0.03 %

Total CLO Subordinated Fee Notes $ 170,316 $ 186,792  0.16 %
Real Estate(8)

Moores Crossing - Travis County, TX 7/14/2023 $ 4,000,000 $ 4,003,879 $ 2,175,000  1.85 %

Total Investments $ 184,008,668 $ 173,453,913  147.48 %

Cash Equivalents
U.S. Bank MMDA Money Market Deposit Account $ 725,402 $ 725,402 $ 725,402  0.62 %

Total Investments and Cash 
Equivalents $ 184,734,070 $ 174,179,315  148.10 %

Issuer (1)(7) Investment Description
Acquisition 

Date (2)
Principal 
Amount Cost Fair Value (3)

% of Net 
Assets

(1)  The Fund is not affiliated with, nor does it "control" (as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the "1940 Act")), any 
of the issuers listed. In general, under the 1940 Act, the Fund would be presumed to "control" an issuer if it owned 25% or more of its voting 
securities.

(2)  Acquisition date represents the initial date of purchase or the date the investment was contributed to the Fund at the time of the Fund's 
formation.

(3)  Fair value is determined by the Adviser in accordance with the written valuation policies and procedures, subject to oversight by the Fund's 
Board of Trustees, in accordance with Rule 2a-5 under the 1940 Act.

(4)  Securities exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, and are deemed to be "restricted securities." As of September 30, 2024, 
the aggregate fair value of these securities is $171,278,913, or 145.63% of the Fund's net assets.

(5)  CLO subordinated notes and subordinated fee notes are considered CLO equity positions. CLO equity positions are entitled to recurring 
distributions which are generally equal to the remaining cash flow of payments made by underlying assets less contractual payments to debt 

CARLYLE CREDIT INCOME FUND
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holders and fund expenses. The effective yield is estimated based upon the current projection of the amount and timing of these recurring 
distributions in addition to the estimated amount of terminal principal payment. It is the Fund's policy to calculate the effective yield for each 
CLO equity position held within the Fund's portfolio at the initiation of each investment and to update it each subsequent quarter thereafter. 
The effective yield and investment cost may ultimately not be realized. As of September 30, 2024, the Fund's weighted average effective yield 
on its aggregate CLO equity positions, based on current amortized cost, was 18.63%.

(6)  Fair value includes the Fund’s interests in fee rebates on the CLO subordinated notes.
(7)  The fair value of the investment was determined using significant unobservable inputs. See “Note 3. Fair Value Measurements.”
(8)  The Fund inherited a non-income producing defaulted real estate loan from VCIF that was not included in the legacy portfolio sale. Pursuant 

to a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure on August 10, 2023, the Fund has ownership of the real estate.

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARLYLE CREDIT INCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024
(expressed in U.S. dollars)

Year Ended 
September 30, 2024

Investment Income
Interest income $ 27,923,746 

Total investment income  27,923,746 

Expenses
Interest expense  4,631,258 
Incentive fees  3,191,296 
Management fees  2,685,093 
Professional fees  1,357,653 
Insurance expense  238,551 
Administration and custodian fees  211,408 
Printing expense  211,029 
Trustees' fees and expenses  125,000 
Transfer agent fees  124,142 
Other expenses  102,773 

Total expenses  12,878,203 
Net Investment Income  15,045,543 

Net Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss)
Net realized gain (loss) on investments and foreign currency transactions  99,225 
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments, foreign currency, and cash 
equivalents  (9,578,026) 
Net Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss)  (9,478,801) 

Net Increase in Net Assets Attributable to Common Shares from Operations $ 5,566,742 

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements.
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CARLYLE CREDIT INCOME FUND
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the Years Ended September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023
(expressed in U.S. dollars)

Year Ended 
September 30, 2024

Year Ended 
September 30, 2023

Net increase (decrease) in net assets from operations:
Net investment income $ 15,045,543 $ 572,740 
Net realized gain (loss) on investments and foreign currency transactions  99,225  (10,719,160) 
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments, foreign currency 
and cash equivalents  (9,578,026)  (1,675,639) 

Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations  5,566,742  (11,822,059) 

Distributions to shareholders from:
Net investment income  (427,365)  (4,512,176) 
Return of capital  (15,218,076)  (4,166,758) 

Total distributions to shareholders  (15,645,441)  (8,678,934) 

Capital share transactions
Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from beneficial interest:

Issuance of common shares  28,063,654  10,816,451 
Reinvestment of dividends  877,308  605,817 

Net increase in net assets from capital share transactions  28,940,962  11,422,268 

Total increase (decrease) in net assets  18,862,263  (9,078,725) 
Net assets at the beginning of the period  98,750,740  107,829,465 
Net assets at the end of the period $ 117,613,003 $ 98,750,740 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARLYLE CREDIT INCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024
(expressed in U.S. dollars)

Year Ended 
September 30, 2024

Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations $ 5,566,742 
Adjustments to reconcile net increase in net assets from operations to net cash provided by operating activities:

Purchases of investments, net of change in payable for investments purchased  (112,288,796) 
Proceeds from disposition of investments and reductions to investment cost value (1)  23,236,392 
Net amortization on investments  (4,028) 
Amortization of deferred issuance costs on preferred shares  481,918 
Net realized gain on investments  (99,225) 
Change in unrealized depreciation on investments  9,578,026 

Changes in assets:
Increase in interest receivable  (3,713,962) 
Decrease in receivable for investments sold  1,450,000 
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets  (77,860) 

Changes in liabilities:
Increase in incentive fee payable  900,954 
Increase in management fee payable  260,905 
Increase in interest payable on preferred shares  77,500 
Decrease in professional fees payable  (90,950) 
Decrease in administration and custodian fees payable  (39,008) 
Increase in other payables and accrued expenses  144,364 

Net cash used in operating activities  (74,617,028) 

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of preferred shares  63,517,000 
Deferred issuance costs for the issuance of preferred shares  (3,127,486) 
Proceeds from common shares issued, net of commissions and fees  28,063,654 
Dividends paid to shareholders, net of reinvestments  (14,768,133) 
Decrease in dividend payable  (1,159,119) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  72,525,916 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  448 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (2,090,664) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  2,816,066 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 725,402 

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for interest on preferred shares $ 4,071,840 
Non-cash activities:
Reinvestment of dividends $ 877,308 

(1)  Proceeds from the disposition of investments and reductions to investment cost value includes $12,087,526 of return of capital on CLO 
equity investments from recurring cash flows and refinancings during the year ended September 30, 2024.

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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Year Ended September 30,
2024 2023(4) 2022 2021 2020

Per Share Operating Data
Net asset value, beginning of period $ 8.42 $ 10.39 $ 11.69 $ 12.05 $ 12.71 
Income (loss) from investment operations:
Net investment income (1)  1.19  0.05  0.50  0.42  0.36 
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss)  (0.74)  (1.20)  (0.80)  0.33  (0.50) 
Total from investment operations  0.45  (1.15)  (0.30)  0.75  (0.14) 
Dividends to shareholders from:
Net investment income  (0.03)  (0.43)  (0.73)  (0.89)  (0.33) 
Net realized gains  —  —  (0.18)  (0.22)  (0.19) 
Return of capital  (1.20)  (0.40)  (0.09)  —  — 
Total dividends  (1.23)  (0.82)  —  (1.00)  (1.11)  —  (0.52) 

Net asset value, end of period $ 7.64 $ 8.42 $ 10.39 $ 11.69 $ 12.05 

Per share market value at beginning of period $ 8.18 $ 8.92 $ 10.49 $ 9.93 $ 10.68 

Per share market value at end of period $ 8.23 $ 8.18 $ 8.92 $ 10.49 $ 9.93 

Total Return based on Net Asset Value (2)  6.07 %  (11.75) %  (2.77) %  6.52 %  (1.09) %

Total Return based on Market Value (2)  17.21 %  0.39 %  (5.95) %  17.59 %  (2.99) %

Ratios/Supplemental Data
Net assets, end of period (in thousands) $ 117,613 $ 98,751 $ 107,829 $ 121,324 $ 125,034 
Ratio of gross expenses to average net assets (3)  12.92 %  7.42 %  3.27 %  3.05 %  3.06 %
Ratio of net expenses to average net assets (3)  12.92 %  6.72 %  3.09 %  2.88 %  2.73 %
Ratio of net expenses before incentive fees to average net 
assets (3)  9.72 % N/A N/A N/A N/A
Ratio of net investment income to average net assets (3)  15.10 %  0.56 %  4.53 %  3.56 %  2.95 %
Portfolio turnover rate  17.69 %  100.91 %  28.39 %  14.73 %  20.13 %
Asset coverage of preferred shares  285 % N/A N/A N/A N/A
Loan Outstanding, End of Year/Period (in thousands)  (5) N/A N/A $ 7,455 $ 1,923 $ 13,000 
Asset Coverage Ratio for Loan Outstanding (5) N/A N/A  1546 %  6409 %  1062 %
Asset Coverage, per $1,000 Principal Amount of Loan 
Outstanding (5) N/A N/A $ 15,463 $ 64,090 $ 10,618 
Weighted Average Loans Outstanding (in thousands) (5) N/A $ 3,732 $ 8,051 $ 10,788 $ 9,796 
Weighted Average Interest Rate on Loans Outstanding (5) N/A  7.94 %  4.50 %  3.75 %  3.79 %

(1)  Per share amounts are calculated based on the average shares outstanding during the period.
(2)  Total returns are historical in nature and assume changes in share price, reinvestment of dividends and capital gains distributions, if any, 

and excludes the effect of sales charges. Had the Adviser not waived expenses, total returns would have been lower. Returns do not reflect 
the deduction of taxes that a shareholder would pay on fund distributions or the redemption of fund shares.

(3)  Annualized for periods less than one full year. For years ended September 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023 the Fund waived certain expenses 
in connection with an expense limitation agreement. For the year ended September 30, 2024, there were no expenses waived. See Note 4. 
Related Party Transactions, for further information.

(4)  Effective at the close of business on July 14, 2023, CGCIM replaced Oakline Advisors as the Fund’s new investment adviser and the 
Fund’s investment strategy was changed to invest primarily in debt and equity tranches issued by collateralized loan obligations. Prior to 
the close of business on July 14, 2023, the investment strategy was to invest primarily in mortgage notes secured by residential real estate. 

(5)  As of September 30, 2024, the Fund did not have any outstanding loans. A revolving line of credit agreement between the Fund and 
Nexbank was terminated on July 5, 2023.
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Senior Securities

Class and Period Ended

Total Amount 
Outstanding 
Exclusive of 

Treasury 
Securities (1)

Asset 
Coverage 

Per Unit (2)

Involuntary 
Liquidating 
Preference 
Per Unit (3)

Average 
Market Value 

Per Unit (4)

8.75% Series A Term Preferred Shares  
 

September 30, 2024 $ 52,000,000 $ 87.08 $ 25 $ 25.60 
7.125% Series B Convertible Preferred 
Shares

 
 

September 30, 2024 $ 11,517,000 $ 15,727.19 $ 1,000 N/A

(1) Total amount of each class of senior securities outstanding at principal value at the end of the period presented.
(2) The asset coverage ratio for a class of senior securities representing indebtedness is calculated as our consolidated total assets, less all liabilities and 

indebtedness not represented by senior securities, divided by total senior securities representing indebtedness as calculated separately for each of the 
Preferred Shares in accordance with Section 18(h) of the 1940 Act. The asset coverage per unit figure is expressed in terms of dollar amounts per share of 
outstanding Preferred Shares (based on a per share liquidation preference of $25 in the case of the 8.75% Series A Term Preferred Shares and $1,000 in the 
case of the 7.125% Series B Convertible Preferred Shares). 

(3) The amount to which such class of senior security would be entitled upon our involuntary liquidation in preference to any security junior to it. 
(4) The average market value per unit is calculated by taking the average of the closing price of the 8.75% Series A Term Preferred Shares (NYSE: CCIA) for 

each day during the year for which it was listed on the NYSE. Not applicable for the 7.125% Series B Convertible Preferred Shares.

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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1. ORGANIZATION

Carlyle Credit Income Fund (the “Fund”) is a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company registered 
under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”). The Fund was organized as a Delaware statutory 
trust on April 8, 2011. In addition, the Fund has elected to be treated, and intends to continue to comply with the requirements 
to qualify annually, as a regulated investment company (“RIC”) under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the “Code”). The Fund currently has one class of 
common shares which commenced operations on December 30, 2011. The Fund was previously named Vertical Capital Income 
Fund (“VCIF”) and was managed by its Adviser, Oakline Advisors LLC (“Oakline”). Effective at the close of business on July 
14, 2023, the Fund is managed by its Adviser, Carlyle Global Credit Investment Management L.L.C. (“CGCIM” or the 
“Adviser”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C.  

On January 12, 2023, the Fund entered into a definitive agreement (the “Transaction Agreement”) with the Adviser 
pursuant to which, among other things, CGCIM would become the investment adviser to the Fund (the “Transaction”). Pursuant 
to the Transaction Agreement, the investment advisory agreement between the Fund and Oakline terminated at or near the 
closing of the Transaction (the “Closing”). As a result, the holders of the Fund’s common shares (“Shareholders”) were asked 
to approve a new investment advisory agreement between the Fund and CGCIM and to approve certain other proposals upon 
which the Closing was conditioned. The Shareholders approved the new Investment Advisory Agreement and the other 
proposals at a shareholder meeting on June 15, 2023, followed by the Closing, which occurred on July 14, 2023. In connection 
with Closing, (i) the Fund sold existing investments with a gross asset value equal to approximately 97% of the total gross asset 
value of such investments as of August 31, 2022, subject to certain exclusions; (ii) CGCIM replaced Oakline as the Fund’s new 
investment adviser; (iii) the Fund’s investment strategy was changed to invest primarily in debt and equity tranches issued by 
collateralized loan obligations; (iv) each of the Fund’s trustees and officers were replaced; (v) the Fund changed its name on 
July 14, 2023 from Vertical Capital Income Fund to Carlyle Credit Income Fund; and (vi) on July 27, 2023 the Fund’s common 
shares began trading on NYSE under the symbol “CCIF.” In addition, Shareholders of the Fund received a special one-time 
payment of $10,000,000 from CGCIM (or one of its affiliates), or approximately $0.96 per common share.

Following the closing of the Transaction and pursuant to the Transaction Agreement, (i) CG Subsidiary Holdings 
L.L.C., an affiliate of the Adviser (the “Purchaser”) commenced a tender offer on July 18, 2023 to purchase up to $25,000,000 
of outstanding Fund common shares at the then-current net asset value per common share (the “Tender Offer”), and (ii) the 
Purchaser agreed to invest $15,000,000 into the Fund through the purchase of newly issued Fund common shares at a price 
equal to the greater of the then-current net asset value per common share and the net asset value per common share that 
represents the tender offer purchase price (the “New Issuance”), and through acquiring common shares in private purchases (the 
“Private Purchase”). 

The Tender Offer expired on August 28, 2023, and the Purchaser accepted for purchase 3,012,049 common shares at a 
purchase price of $8.30 per common share for an aggregate purchase price of $25,000,007, excluding fees and expenses relating 
to the Tender Offer. 

On September 12, 2023, the Fund closed the New Issuance and issued and sold 1,269,537 common shares to the 
Purchaser at a purchase price of $8.52 per common share, which price represented the net asset value per common share as of 
the closing of the New Issuance, for an aggregate purchase price of $10,816,451.

On September 12, 2023, the Purchaser closed the Private Purchase and acquired 504,042 common shares from existing 
shareholders of the Fund.

Prior to the close of business on July 14, 2023, the Fund’s investment objective was to generate income by primarily 
investing in mortgage notes secured by residential real estate. Following the closing of the Transaction, the Fund’s primary 
investment objective is to generate current income, with a secondary objective to generate capital appreciation. The Fund seeks 
to achieve its investment objectives by investing primarily in equity and junior debt tranches of collateralized loan obligations 
(“CLO”) that are collateralized by a portfolio consisting primarily of below investment grade U.S. senior secured loans with a 
large number of distinct underlying borrowers across various industry sectors. The Fund may also invest in other related 
securities and instruments or other securities and instruments that the Adviser believes are consistent with its investment 
objectives, including senior debt tranches of CLOs, loan accumulation facilities (“LAFs”) and securities issued by other 
securitization vehicles, such as collateralized bond obligations, or “CBOs.” LAFs are short- to medium-term facilities often 
provided by the bank that will serve as the placement agent or arranger on a CLO transaction. LAFs typically incur leverage 
between four and six times equity value prior to a CLO’s pricing. The CLO securities in which the Fund primarily seek to 
invest are unrated or rated below investment grade and are considered speculative with respect to timely payment of interest and 
repayment of principal. Unrated and below investment grade securities are also sometimes referred to as “junk” securities. In 
addition, the CLO equity and junior debt securities in which the Fund invests are highly leveraged (with CLO equity securities 
typically being leveraged ten times), which magnifies the Fund’s risk of loss on such investments.
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To qualify as a RIC, the Fund must, among other things, meet certain source-of-income and asset diversification 
requirements and timely distribute to its shareholders generally at least 90% of its investment company taxable income, as 
defined by the Code, for each year. Pursuant to this election, the Fund generally does not have to pay corporate level taxes on 
any income that it distributes to shareholders, provided that the Fund satisfies those requirements.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). The Fund is an investment company for the purposes of 
accounting and financial reporting in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 946, Financial Services—Investment Companies (“ASC 946”). U.S. GAAP for an investment 
company requires investments to be recorded at fair value. With the exception of the line item entitled “preferred shares” which 
is reported at amortized cost, the carrying value for all other assets and liabilities approximates their fair value. The Fund’s 
fiscal year ends on September 30, and unless otherwise noted, references to fiscal year or year are for fiscal years ended 
September 30.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make assumptions 
and estimates that affect the reported amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Management’s 
estimates are based on historical experiences and other factors, including expectations of future events that management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. It also requires management to exercise judgment in the process of applying 
the Fund’s accounting policies. 

Investments

Investment transactions are recorded as of the applicable trade date. Realized gains or losses are measured by the 
difference between the net proceeds from the repayment or sale and the amortized cost basis of the investment using the 
specific identification method without regard to unrealized appreciation or depreciation previously recognized, and includes 
investments charged off during the period, net of recoveries. Net change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation on 
investments as presented in the accompanying Statement of Operations reflects the net change in the fair value of investments, 
including the reversal of previously recorded unrealized appreciation or depreciation when gains or losses are realized. See 
Note 3. Fair Value Measurements, for further information.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and highly liquid investments (e.g., money market funds, U.S. 
treasury notes) with original maturities of three months or less. The Fund’s cash and cash equivalents are held at one or more 
large financial institutions and cash held in such financial institutions may, at times, exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation insured limit. The Fund classifies cash equivalents as Level I in the fair value hierarchy. Cash equivalents are 
carried at cost or amortized cost which approximates fair value.

Interest from Investments

CLO equity investments recognize investment income by utilizing an effective interest methodology based upon an 
effective yield to maturity utilizing projected cash flow, as required by ASC Topic 325-40, Beneficial Interest in Securitized 
Financial Assets. The Fund monitors the expected residual payments, and effective yield is determined and updated 
periodically, as needed. Accordingly, investment income recognized on CLO equity securities in the U.S. GAAP statement of 
operations differs from both the tax-basis investment income and from the cash distributions actually received by the Fund 
during the quarterly period.

Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis and includes the accretion of discounts and amortization of premiums. 
Discounts from and premiums to par value on debt investments purchased are accreted/amortized into interest income over the 
life of the respective security using the effective interest method. The amortized cost of debt investments represents the original 
cost, including origination fees and upfront fees received that are deemed to be an adjustment to yield, adjusted for the accretion 
of discounts and amortization of premiums, if any. 

Interest Expense

Interest expense includes the Fund’s dividends associated with its 8.75% Series A Term Preferred Shares due October 
31, 2028 (the “Series A Term Preferred Shares”) and its 7.125% Series B Convertible Preferred Shares (the “ Series B 
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Convertible Preferred Shares”). Interest expense also includes the Fund’s amortization of deferred issuance costs associated 
with its Series A Term Preferred Shares and its Series B Convertible Preferred Shares.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses consist primarily of insurance premiums and ATM program expenses. See Note 9. Capital, for 
further information. Insurance premiums are amortized over the term of the current policy. Prepaid ATM program expenses 
represent fees and expenses incurred in connection with the ATM program. Such costs are allocated pro-rata based on the 
amount issued relative to the total respective offering amount and are charged to paid-in-capital. Any remaining prepaid 
expense balance associated with the ATM program is charged to expense at the earlier of the end of the program period, or at 
the effective date of a new ATM program.

Preferred Shares (See Note 7. Preferred Shares, for further information)

The Fund authorized and issued its Series A Term Preferred and its Series B Convertible Preferred Shares during the 
year ended September 30, 2024. The Fund carries its mandatory redeemable Series A Term Preferred Shares and Series B 
Convertible Preferred Shares at amortized cost, and such shares are included as a liability on the Statement of Assets and 
Liabilities.

Deferred Issuance Costs

Deferred issuance costs consist of fees and expenses incurred in connection with the closing of the Fund’s Series A 
Term Preferred Shares and Series B Convertible Preferred Shares, and are capitalized at the time of payment. These costs are 
amortized over the period the Series A Term Preferred Shares and Series B Convertible Preferred Shares are outstanding. The 
amortized expenses are included in interest expense in the Fund’s financial statements. The unamortized deferred issuance costs 
are included on the Fund’s Statement of Assets and Liabilities as a direct deduction from the related preferred share liability. 

Income Taxes

For federal income tax purposes, the Fund has elected to be treated as a RIC under the Code, and intends to make the 
required distributions to its shareholders as specified therein. In order to qualify as a RIC, the Fund must meet certain minimum 
distribution, source-of-income and asset diversification requirements. If such requirements are met, then the Fund is generally 
required to pay income taxes only on the portion of its taxable income and gains it does not distribute.

The minimum distribution requirements applicable to RICs require the Fund to distribute to its shareholders at least 
90% of its investment company taxable income (“ICTI”), as defined by the Code, each year (the “Annual Distribution 
Requirement”). Depending on the level of ICTI earned in a tax year, the Fund may choose to carry forward ICTI in excess of 
current year distributions into the next tax year. Any such carryover ICTI must be distributed before the end of that next tax 
year through a dividend declared prior to filing the final tax return related to the year which generated such ICTI.

In addition, based on the excise distribution requirements, the Fund is subject to a 4% nondeductible federal excise tax 
on undistributed income unless the Fund distributes in a timely manner an amount at least equal to the sum of (1) 98% of its 
ordinary income for each calendar year, (2) 98.2% of capital gain net income (both long-term and short-term) for the one-year 
period ending October 31 in that calendar year and (3) any income realized, but not distributed, in the preceding year. For this 
purpose, however, any ordinary income or capital gain net income retained by the Fund that is subject to corporate income tax 
is considered to have been distributed. The Fund intends to make sufficient distributions each taxable year to satisfy the excise 
distribution requirements. 

Due to timing of dividends and distributions, the fiscal year in which amounts are distributed may differ from the fiscal 
year in which the income or net realized gain was recorded by the Fund.

Dividends 

The composition of distributions paid to common shareholders from net investment income and capital gains are 
determined in accordance with U.S. federal income tax regulations, which differ from U.S. GAAP. Distributions to common 
shareholders can be comprised of net investment income, net realized capital gains and return of capital for U.S. federal income 
tax purposes and are intended to be paid monthly. Distributions payable to common shareholders are recorded as a liability on 
ex-dividend date.

The Fund has an “opt out” DRP that provides for reinvestment of dividends and other distributions on behalf of the 
shareholder, other than those shareholders who have “opted out” of the plan. As a result of adopting the plan, if the Board of 
Trustees authorizes, and the Fund declares, a cash dividend or distribution, the shareholders who have not elected to “opt out” 
of the DRP will have their cash dividends or distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares of the Fund’s shares of 
beneficial interest, rather than receiving cash. Each registered shareholder may elect to have such shareholder’s dividends and 
distributions distributed in cash rather than participate in the plan. For any registered shareholder that does not so elect, 
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distributions on such shareholder’s shares will be reinvested by the Transfer Agent, the Fund’s plan administrator, in additional 
shares. The number of shares to be issued to the shareholder will be determined based on the total dollar amount of the cash 
distribution payable, net of applicable withholding taxes.

Functional Currency

The functional currency of the Fund is the U.S. Dollar. Investments are generally made in the local currency of the 
country in which the investments are domiciled and are translated into U.S. Dollars with foreign currency translation gains or 
losses recorded within net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments in the accompanying Statement of 
Operations.

3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Fund applies fair value accounting in accordance with the terms of FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value 
Measurement (“ASC 820”). ASC 820 defines fair value as the amount that would be exchanged to sell an asset or transfer a 
liability in an orderly transfer between market participants at the measurement date. The Fund values securities/instruments 
traded in active markets on the measurement date by multiplying the bid price of such traded securities/instruments by the 
quantity of shares or amount of the instrument held. The Fund may also obtain quotes with respect to certain of its investments, 
such as its securities/instruments traded in active markets and its liquid securities/instruments that are not traded in active 
markets, from pricing services, brokers, or counterparties (i.e., “consensus pricing”). When doing so, the Adviser determines 
whether the quote obtained is sufficient according to U.S. GAAP to determine the fair value of the security. The Fund may use 
the quote obtained or alternative pricing sources may be utilized including valuation techniques typically utilized for illiquid 
securities/instruments.

The Board of Trustees has designated the Adviser as the Fund’s valuation designee for purposes of Rule 2a-5 under 
the Investment Company Act to perform the fair value determination of all of the Fund’s assets in accordance with the terms of 
ASC 820. Securities/instruments that are illiquid or for which the pricing source does not provide a valuation or methodology or 
provides a valuation or methodology that, in the judgment of the Adviser, does not represent fair value shall each be valued as 
of the measurement date using all techniques appropriate under the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available. 
These valuation techniques may vary by investment and include comparable public market valuations, comparable precedent 
transaction valuations and/or discounted cash flow analyses. The Adviser engages third-party valuation firms to provide 
independent prices on securities/instruments. The Adviser’s Valuation Committee (the “Valuation Committee”) reviews the 
assessments of the third-party valuation firms and provides any recommendations with respect to changes to the fair value of 
each investment in the portfolio and approves the fair value of each investment in the portfolio in good faith based on the input 
of the third-party valuation firms. If the Adviser reasonably believes a valuation from a pricing vendor is inaccurate or 
unreliable, the Valuation Committee will consider an “override” of the particular valuation. The Valuation Committee will 
consider all available information at its disposal prior to making a valuation determination.

U.S. GAAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure framework which ranks the level of observability of market price 
inputs used in measuring investments at fair value. The observability of inputs is impacted by a number of factors, including the 
type of investment and the characteristics specific to the investment and state of the marketplace, including the existence and 
transparency of transactions between market participants. Investments with readily available quoted prices or for which fair 
value can be measured from quoted prices in active markets generally have a higher degree of market price observability and a 
lesser degree of judgment applied in determining fair value.

Investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed based on the observability of inputs used 
in determination of fair values, as follows:

• Level 1— inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices available in active markets for identical investments 
as of the reporting date. The types of financial instruments included in Level 1 generally include unrestricted 
securities, including equities and derivatives, listed in active markets. The Adviser does not adjust the quoted price for 
these investments, even in situations where we hold a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted 
price.

• Level 2—inputs to the valuation methodology are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date and 
are those other than quoted prices in active markets. The type of financial instruments in this category generally 
includes less liquid and restricted securities listed in active markets, securities traded in other than active markets, 
government and agency securities, and certain over-the-counter derivatives where the fair value is based on observable 
inputs.
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• Level 3—inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to overall fair value measurement. The 
inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation. Financial 
instruments that are included in this category generally include investments in privately held entities, non-investment 
grade residual interests in securitizations, collateralized loan obligations, and certain over-the-counter derivatives 
where the fair value is based on unobservable inputs.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such 
cases, an investment’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the overall 
fair value measurement. The Adviser’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the investment.

Transfers between levels, if any, are recognized at the beginning of the period in which the transfers occur. During the 
year ended September 30, 2024, there were no transfers.

The following table summarizes the Fund’s investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the above fair 
value hierarchy levels as of September 30, 2024:

As of September 30, 2024

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Cash Equivalents $ 725,402 $ — $ — $ 725,402 
Collateralized Loan Obligations  —  —  171,278,913  171,278,913 
Real Estate  —  —  2,175,000  2,175,000 

Total Investments, at Fair Value $ 725,402 $ — $ 173,453,913 $ 174,179,315 

The changes in the Fund’s investments at fair value for which the Fund has classified as Level 3 for the year ended 
September 30, 2024, are as follows:

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024
Collateralized 

Loan Obligations Real Estate Total
Balance, beginning of period $ 91,876,730 $ 2,000,000 $ 93,876,730 

Purchases of investments  112,288,796  —  112,288,796 
Proceeds from sales and paydowns of investments (1)  (23,236,392)  —  (23,236,392) 
Net realized gains (losses)  99,225  —  99,225 
Accretion of discount (premium)  4,028  —  4,028 
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation)  (9,753,474)  175,000  (9,578,474) 

Balance, end of period $ 171,278,913 $ 2,175,000 $ 173,453,913 
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) included in earnings related to 
investments still held at the reporting date $ (9,693,963) $ 175,000 $ (9,518,963) 

(1)  Includes $12,087,526 of return of capital on CLO investments from recurring cash flows and refinancings.

The Fund generally uses the following framework when determining the fair value of investments that are categorized 
as Level 3:

The fair value of CLOs is estimated based on various valuation models from third-party pricing services. Those 
analyses consider the current trading activity, position size, liquidity, current financial condition of the CLOs, the third-party 
financing environment, reinvestment rates, recovery lags, discount rates, and default forecasts. The Fund corroborates 
quotations from pricing services either with other available pricing data and subsequent or recent trading information. These 
securities are classified as Level 3.
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The following table summarizes the quantitative information related to the significant unobservable inputs for Level 3 
instruments which are carried at fair value as of September 30, 2024:

Fair Value as of 
September 30, 

2024
Valuation 
Techniques

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
Range Weighted

AverageLow High
Collateralized Loan Obligations $ 170,682,942 Consensus Pricing Indicative Quotes  28.0 %  100.2 %  64.9 %

$ 595,971 Discounted Cash Flow Discount Rate  20.0 %  20.0 %  20.0 %
Real Estate  2,175,000 Market Approach Bid Price  54.4 %  54.4 %  54.4 %

Total Level 3 Investments $ 173,453,913 

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Fund’s investments in CLOs are 
indicative quotes. Significant decreases in indicative quotes may result in a significantly lower fair value measurement. The 
Fund’s Real Estate investment is being valued based on an indicative bid received.

4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Investment Advisory Agreement

On November 28, 2022, the Fund’s Board of Trustees, including a majority of the Trustees who are not “interested 
persons” as that term is defined in the 1940 Act, as amended, approved the Investment Advisory Agreement, subject to 
Shareholder approval. The Board weighed a number of factors in reaching its decision to approve the Investment Advisory 
Agreement, including, without limitation, the history, reputation, and resources of CGCIM, prior performance results achieved 
by CGCIM, and quality of services to be provided by CGCIM. The Board considered CGCIM’s expertise in managing 
collateralized loan obligation securities. 

The Shareholders approved the Investment Advisory Agreement on June 15, 2023 and it became effective on July 14, 
2023, at which time the original Investment Advisory Agreement between the Fund and Oakline Advisors, LLC terminated. 
Pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement, by and between the Fund and the Adviser, and in consideration of the 
advisory services provided by the Adviser to the Fund, the Adviser is entitled to a fee consisting of two components—a base 
management fee (the “Management Fee”) and an incentive fee (the “Incentive Fee”).

The Management Fee is calculated and payable monthly in arrears at the annual rate of 1.75% of the month-end value 
of the Fund’s Managed Assets. “Managed Assets” means the total assets of the Fund (including any assets attributable to any 
preferred shares or to indebtedness) minus the Fund’s liabilities other than liabilities relating to indebtedness.

The incentive fee is calculated and payable quarterly in arrears based upon the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment 
income for the immediately preceding quarter, and is subject to a hurdle rate, expressed as a rate of return on the Fund’s net 
assets, equal to 2.00% per quarter (or an annualized hurdle rate of 8.00%), subject to a “catch-up” feature. For this purpose, 
“pre-incentive fee net investment income” means interest income, dividend income, income generated from original issue 
discounts, payment-in-kind income, and any other income earned or accrued during the calendar quarter, minus the Fund’s 
operating expenses (which, for this purpose shall not include any distribution and/or shareholder servicing fees, litigation, any 
extraordinary expenses or Incentive Fee) for the quarter. For purposes of computing the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment 
income, the calculation methodology will look through total return swaps as if the Fund owned the referenced assets directly. 
As a result, the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income includes net interest, if any, associated with a derivative or 
swap, which is the difference between (a) the interest income and transaction fees related to the reference assets and (b) all 
interest and other expenses paid by the Fund to the derivative or swap counterparty. For purposes of the Incentive Fee, net 
assets are calculated for the relevant quarter as the weighted average of the net asset value of the Fund as of the first business 
day of each month therein. The weighted average net asset value shall be calculated for each month by multiplying the net asset 
value as of the beginning of the first business day of the month times the number of days in that month, divided by the number 
of days in the applicable calendar quarter.

The Fund pays its Adviser an incentive fee with respect to its pre-incentive fee net investment income in each calendar 
quarter as follows:

• No incentive fee based on pre-incentive fee net investment income in any calendar quarter in which its pre-incentive 
fee net investment income does not exceed the hurdle rate of 2.00%;

• 100% of the portion of the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income that exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than 
or equal to 2.4242% (the “catch-up”) is payable to the Adviser if the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income, 
expressed as a percentage of the Fund’s net assets in respect of the relevant calendar quarter, exceeds the hurdle rate 
but is less than or equal to 2.4242% (9.6968% annualized). The “catch-up” provision is intended to provide the 
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Adviser with an incentive fee of 17.5% on all of the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income when the Fund’s 
pre-incentive fee net investment income reaches 2.4242% of net assets; and

• 17.5% of the portion of the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income that exceeds the “catch-up” will be payable 
to the Adviser if the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income, expressed as a percentage of the Fund’s net 
assets in respect of the relevant calendar quarter, exceeds 2.4242% (9.6968% annualized). As a result, once the hurdle 
rate is reached and the catch-up is achieved, 17.5% of all the Fund’s pre-incentive fee net investment income thereafter 
is allocated to the Adviser.

During the year ended September 30, 2024, the management fee was $2,685,093 and incentive fee related to pre-
incentive fee net investment income was $3,191,296.

As of September 30, 2024, $260,905 and $900,954 was included in management fee payable and incentive fee 
payable, respectively, in the accompanying Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

Expense Limitation Agreement

The Adviser and the Fund entered into an Expense Limitation Agreement under which the Adviser had agreed 
contractually to waive its Management Fee and/or reimburse the Fund’s operating expenses on a monthly basis to the extent 
that the Fund’s monthly total annualized fund operating expenses (excluding (i) expenses directly related to the costs of making 
investments, including interest and structuring costs for borrowings and line(s) of credit, taxes, brokerage costs, the Fund’s 
proportionate share of expenses related to co-investments, litigation and extraordinary expenses, (ii) Incentive Fees, expenses 
related to equity or debt offerings, and (iii) expenses associated with the Transaction Agreement, including expenses related to 
the liquidation as defined therein) in respect of the relevant month not to exceed 2.50% of the Fund’s average daily net assets. 
The Expense Limitation Agreement terminated based on its terms on August 17, 2023, which was the date that 75% of the 
Fund’s gross assets were invested in collateralized loan obligation equity and debt investments.

CGCIM also had a Fee Waiver Agreement under which it had agreed to irrevocably waive the portion of its 
management and incentive fees on Fund managed assets invested in exchange traded funds through January 12, 2024 (the 
“Termination Date”), as the Fund’s portfolio transitioned to the new investment strategy. CGCIM was not entitled to recoup 
any waived fees under the Fee Waiver Agreement. For the period from July 14, 2023, the date CGCIM replaced Oakline as the 
Fund’s new investment adviser, through the Termination Date, the Fund did not have any investments in exchange traded 
funds, and thus no management or incentive fees were waived under the Fee Waiver Agreement.

The Adviser is obligated to pay expenses associated with providing the investment services stated in the Investment 
Advisory Agreement, including compensation of and office space for its officers and employees connected with investment and 
economic research, trading and investment management of the Fund.

Board of Trustees

The Fund’s Board of Trustees currently consists of five members, three of whom are Independent Trustees. The Board 
of Trustees has established an Audit Committee, a Nominating and Governance Committee and an Independent Trustees 
Committee, the members of each of which consist entirely of the Fund’s Independent Trustees. The Board of Trustees may 
establish additional committees in the future. During the year ended September 30, 2024, the Fund incurred $125,000 in fees 
and expenses associated with its Independent Trustees' services on the Fund's Board of Trustees and its committees. As of 
September 30, 2024, no fees or expenses associated with the Fund’s Independent Trustees were payable.

Shareholder Concentration

Related parties owned approximately 32% of the Fund's total outstanding shares as of September 30, 2024. Related 
parties may include, but are not limited to, the Adviser and its affiliates, affiliated broker dealers, fund of funds, and directors or 
employees.

5. RISK FACTORS

Investment Risks

Portfolio Fair Value Risk

Under the Investment Company Act, the Fund is required to carry its portfolio investments at market value or, if there 
is no readily available market value, at fair value. There is not a public market for the CLO investments we target. As a result, 
the Adviser values these securities at least quarterly, or more frequently as may be required from time to time, at fair value. The 
Adviser, as valuation designee, is responsible for the valuation of the Fund’s portfolio investments and implementing the 
portfolio. 
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The Fund expects that it will hold a high proportion of Level 3 investments relative to its total investments, which is 
directly related to the Fund’s investment philosophy and target portfolio. The Adviser has engaged an independent valuation 
firm to fair value the Fund’s Level 3 investments on a monthly basis. A retained independent valuation firm will have expertise 
in complex valuations associated with alternative investments and utilize a variety of techniques to calculate a security’s/
instrument’s valuation. The valuation approach may vary by security/instrument but may include comparable public market 
valuations, comparable transaction valuations and discounted cash flow analyses. All factors that might materially impact the 
value of an investment (e.g., operating results, financial condition, achievement of milestones, economic and/or market events 
and recent sales prices) may be considered. The factors and methodologies used for the valuation of such securities are not 
necessarily an indication of the risks associated with investing in those securities nor can it be assured that the Fund can realize 
the fair value assigned to a security if it were to sell the security. Because such valuations are inherently uncertain, they often 
reflect only periodic information received by the Adviser about such companies’ financial condition and/or business operations, 
which may be on a lagged basis and therefore fluctuate over time and can be based on estimates. Determinations of fair value 
may differ materially from the values that would have been used if an exchange-traded market for these securities existed.

Potential Conflicts of Interest Risk—Allocation of Investment Opportunities

The Adviser has adopted allocation procedures that are intended to treat each fund they advise in a manner that, over a 
period of time, is fair and equitable. The Adviser and its affiliates currently provide investment advisory and administration 
services and may provide in the future similar services to other entities (collectively, “Advised Funds”). Certain existing 
Advised Funds have, and future Advised Funds may have, investment objectives similar to those of the Fund, and such Advised 
Funds will invest in asset classes similar to those targeted by the Fund. Certain other existing Advised Funds do not, and future 
Advised Funds may not, have similar investment objectives, but such funds may from time to time invest in asset classes 
similar to those targeted by the Fund. The Adviser will endeavor to allocate investment opportunities in a fair and equitable 
manner, and in any event consistent with any fiduciary duties owed to the Fund and other clients and in an effort to avoid 
favoring one client over another and taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances, including (without limitation): (i) 
differences with respect to available capital, size of client, and remaining life of a client; (ii) differences with respect to 
investment objectives or current investment strategies, including regarding: (a) current and total return requirements, (b) 
emphasizing or limiting exposure to the security or type of security in question, (c) diversification, including industry or 
company exposure, currency and jurisdiction, or (d) rating agency ratings; (iii) differences in risk profile at the time an 
opportunity becomes available; (iv) the potential transaction and other costs of allocating an opportunity among various clients; 
(v) potential conflicts of interest, including whether a client has an existing investment in the security in question or the issuer 
of such security; (vi) the nature of the security or the transaction, including minimum investment amounts and the source of the 
opportunity; (vii) current and anticipated market and general economic conditions; (viii) existing positions in a borrower/loan/
security; and (ix) prior positions in a borrower/loan/security. Nevertheless, it is possible that the Fund may not be given the 
opportunity to participate in certain investments made by investment funds managed by investment managers affiliated with the 
Adviser. 

Collateralized Loan Obligations

The Fund invests in CLOs. Investments in CLO securities involve certain risks. CLOs are generally backed by an asset 
or a pool of assets that serve as collateral. The Fund and other investors in CLO securities ultimately bear the credit risk of the 
underlying collateral. Most CLOs are issued in multiple tranches, offering investors various maturity and credit risk 
characteristics, often categorized as senior, mezzanine and subordinated/equity according to their degree of risk. If there are 
defaults or the relevant collateral otherwise underperforms, scheduled payments to senior tranches of such securities take 
precedence over those of junior tranches which are the focus of our investment strategy, and scheduled payments to junior 
tranches have a priority in right of payment to subordinated/equity tranches. CLOs may present risks similar to those of the 
other types of debt obligations and, in fact, such risks may be of greater significance in the case of CLOs. For example, 
investments in junior debt and equity securities issued by CLOs, involve risks, including credit risk and market risk. Changes in 
interest rates and credit quality may cause significant price fluctuations. In addition to the general risks associated with 
investing in debt securities, CLO securities carry additional risks, including: (1) the possibility that distributions from collateral 
assets will not be adequate to make interest or other payments; (2) the quality of the collateral may decline in value or default; 
(3) investments in CLO junior debt and equity tranches will likely be subordinate in right of payment to other senior classes of 
CLO debt; and (4) the complex structure of a particular security may not be fully understood at the time of investment and may 
produce disputes with the issuer or unexpected investment results. Changes in the collateral held by a CLO may cause payments 
on the instruments the Fund holds to be reduced, either temporarily or permanently.

Covenant-Lite Loans Risk

Covenant-lite loans may comprise a significant portion of the senior secured loans underlying the CLOs in which we 
invest. Over the past decade, the senior secured loan market has evolved from one in which covenant-lite loans represented a 
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minority of the market to one in which such loans represent a significant majority of the market. Generally, covenant-lite loans 
provide borrower companies more freedom to negatively impact lenders because their covenants are incurrence-based, which 
means they are only tested and can only be breached following an affirmative action of the borrower, rather than by a 
deterioration in the borrower’s financial condition. Accordingly, to the extent that the CLOs that we invest in hold covenant-lite 
loans, our CLOs may have fewer rights against a borrower and may have a greater risk of loss on such investments as compared 
to investments in or exposure to loans with financial maintenance covenants.

Subordinated Securities

CLO equity and junior debt securities are subordinated to more senior tranches of CLO debt. CLO equity and junior 
debt securities are subject to increased risks of default relative to the holders of superior priority interests in the same CLO. In 
addition, at the time of issuance, CLO equity securities are under-collateralized in that the face amount of the CLO debt and 
CLO equity of a CLO at inception exceed its total assets. The Fund will typically be in a subordinated or first loss position with 
respect to realized losses on the underlying assets held by the CLOs in which we are invested. 

High Yield Investment Risk

The CLO equity and junior debt securities are typically rated below investment grade, or in the case of CLO equity 
securities unrated, and are therefore considered “higher yield” or “junk” securities and are considered speculative with respect 
to timely payment of interest and repayment of principal. The senior secured loans and other credit-related assets underlying 
CLOs are also typically higher yield investments. Investing in CLO equity and junior debt securities and other high yield 
investments involves greater credit and liquidity risk than investment grade obligations, which may adversely impact the Fund’s 
performance.

Default Risk

The Fund is subject to risks associated with defaults on an underlying asset held by a CLO.

• A default and any resulting loss, as well as other losses on an underlying asset held by a CLO may reduce the 
fair value of our corresponding CLO investment. A wide range of factors could adversely affect the ability of 
the borrower of an underlying asset to make interest or other payments on that asset. To the extent that actual 
defaults and losses on the collateral of an investment exceed the level of defaults and losses factored into its 
purchase price, the value of the anticipated return from the investment will be reduced. The more deeply 
subordinated the tranche of securities in which we invest, the greater the risk of loss upon a default. For 
example, CLO equity is the most subordinated tranche within a CLO and is therefore subject to the greatest 
risk of loss resulting from defaults on the CLO’s collateral, whether due to bankruptcy or otherwise. Any 
defaults and losses in excess of expected default rates and loss model inputs will have a negative impact on 
the fair value of our investments, will reduce the cash flows that the Fund receives from its investments, 
adversely affect the fair value of the Fund’s assets and could adversely impact the Fund’s ability to pay 
dividends. Furthermore, the holders of the junior equity and debt tranches typically have limited rights with 
respect to decisions made with respect to collateral following an event of default on a CLO. In some cases, 
the senior most class of notes can elect to liquidate the collateral even if the expected proceeds are not 
expected to be able to pay in full all classes of notes. The Fund could experience a complete loss of its 
investment in such a scenario.

• In addition, the collateral of CLOs may require substantial workout negotiations or restructuring in the event 
of a default or liquidation. Any such workout or restructuring is likely to lead to a substantial reduction in the 
interest rate of such asset and/or a substantial write-down or write-off of all or a portion of the principal of 
such asset. Any such reduction in interest rates or principal will negatively affect the fair value of the Fund’s 
portfolio.

Non-Diversification Risk

The Fund is a non-diversified investment company under the 1940 Act and expects to hold a narrower range of 
investments than a diversified fund under the 1940 Act.

Leverage Risk

The use of leverage, whether directly or indirectly through investments such as CLO equity or junior debt securities 
that inherently involve leverage, may magnify the Fund’s risk of loss. CLO equity or junior debt securities are very highly 
leveraged (with CLO equity securities typically being leveraged ten times), and therefore the CLO securities in which the Fund 
invests are subject to a higher degree of loss since the use of leverage magnifies losses.
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Senior Management Personnel of the Adviser

Since the Fund has no employees, it depends on the investment expertise, skill and network of business contacts of the 
Adviser. The Adviser evaluates, negotiates, structures, executes, monitors and services the Fund’s investments. The Fund’s 
future success depends to a significant extent on the continued service and coordination of the Adviser and its senior 
management team. The departure of any members of the Adviser’s senior management team could have a material adverse 
effect on the Fund’s ability to achieve its investment objective.

Conflicts of Interest Risk

The Fund’s executive officers and trustees, other current and future principals of the Adviser and certain members of 
the Adviser’s investment committee may serve as officers, trustees or principals of other entities and affiliates of the Adviser 
and funds managed by the Fund’s affiliates that operate in the same or a related line of business as the Fund does. Currently, the 
Fund’s executive officers, as well as the other principals of the Adviser, manage other funds affiliated with Carlyle, including 
other existing and future affiliated BDCs and registered closed-end funds, including Carlyle Secured Lending, Inc., Carlyle 
Credit Solutions, Inc. and Carlyle Tactical Private Credit Fund. In addition, the Adviser’s investment team has responsibilities 
for sourcing and managing private debt investments for certain other investment funds and accounts. Accordingly, they have 
obligations to investors in those entities, the fulfillment of which may not be in the best interests of, or may be adverse to the 
interests of, the Fund and its Shareholders. Although the professional staff of the Adviser will devote as much time to 
management of the Fund as appropriate to enable the Adviser to perform its duties in accordance with the Investment Advisory 
Agreement, the investment professionals of the Adviser may have conflicts in allocating their time and services among the 
Fund, on the one hand, and investment vehicles managed by Carlyle or one or more of its affiliates on the other hand.

Liquidity Risk

Generally, there is no public market for the CLO investments the Fund targets. As such, the Fund may not be able to 
sell such investments quickly, or at all. If the Fund is able to sell such investments, the prices the Fund receives may not reflect 
the Adviser’s assessment of their fair value or the amount paid for such investments by the Fund.

The Adviser’s Incentive Fee Risk

The Investment Advisory Agreement entitles the Adviser to receive incentive compensation on income regardless of 
any capital losses. In such case, the Fund may be required to pay the Adviser incentive compensation for a fiscal quarter even if 
there is a decline in the value of the Fund’s portfolio or if the Fund incurs a net loss for that quarter. Any Incentive Fee payable 
by the Fund that relates to its net investment income may be computed and paid on income that may include interest that has 
been accrued but not yet received. If an investment defaults on a loan that is structured to provide accrued interest, it is possible 
that accrued interest previously included in the calculation of the Incentive Fee will become uncollectible. The Adviser is not 
under any obligation to reimburse the Fund for any part of the Incentive Fee it received that was based on accrued income that 
the Fund never received as a result of a default by an entity on the obligation that resulted in the accrual of such income, and 
such circumstances would result in the Fund’s paying an Incentive Fee on income it never received. The Incentive Fee payable 
by the Fund to the Adviser may create an incentive for it to make investments on the Fund’s behalf that are risky or more 
speculative than would be the case in the absence of such compensation arrangement. The way in which the Incentive Fee 
payable to the Adviser is determined may encourage it to use leverage to increase the return on the Fund’s investments. In 
addition, the fact that the Management Fee is payable based upon the Fund’s Managed Assets, which would include any 
borrowings for investment purposes, may encourage the Adviser to use leverage to make additional investments. Under certain 
circumstances, the use of leverage may increase the likelihood of default, which would disfavor Shareholders. Such a practice 
could result in the Fund’s investing in more speculative securities than would otherwise be in its best interests, which could 
result in higher investment losses, particularly during cyclical economic downturns.

Market Risks

The success of the Fund’s activities will be affected by general economic and market conditions, such as interest rates, 
availability of credit, credit defaults, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including laws relating to taxation 
of the Fund’s investments), trade barriers, currency exchange controls, disease outbreaks, pandemics, and national and 
international political, environmental and socioeconomic circumstances (including wars, terrorist acts or security operations). In 
addition, the current U.S. political environment and the resulting uncertainties regarding actual and potential shifts in U.S. 
foreign investment, trade, taxation, economic, environmental and other policies under the current Administration, as well as the 
impact of geopolitical tension, such as a deterioration in the bilateral relationship between the U.S. and China or an escalation in 
conflict in the Middle East or between Russia and Ukraine, could lead to disruption, instability and volatility in the global 
markets. It is not possible to predict the duration or extent of longer-term consequences of these conflicts, which could include 
further sanctions, retaliatory and escalating measures, embargoes, regional instability, geopolitical shifts and adverse effects on 
or involving macroeconomic conditions, the energy sector, supply chains, inflation, security conditions, currency exchange 
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rates and financial markets around the globe. Any such market disruptions could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. Unfavorable economic conditions also would be expected to increase our funding 
costs, limit our access to the capital markets or result in a decision by lenders not to extend credit to us.

Current and historic market turmoil has illustrated that market environments may, at any time, be characterized by 
uncertainty, volatility and instability. For example, the outbreak of COVID-19 caused materially reduced consumer demand and 
economic output, disrupting supply chains, resulting in market closures, travel restrictions and quarantines, and adversely 
impacting local and global economies. As with other serious economic disruptions, governmental authorities and regulators are 
responding to this crisis with significant fiscal and monetary policy changes, including by providing direct capital infusions into 
companies, introducing new monetary programs and considerably lowering interest rates, which, in some cases resulted in 
negative interest rates. 

Inflation Risk

Inflation risk is the risk that the value of certain assets or income from the Fund’s investments will be worth less in the 
future as inflation decreases the value of money. As inflation increases, the real value of investments and distributions can 
decline. In addition, during any periods of rising inflation, the dividend rates or borrowing costs associated with the Fund’s use 
of leverage would likely increase, which would tend to further reduce returns to shareholders.

Interest Rate Risk

The senior secured loans underlying the CLOs in which the Fund invests typically have floating interest rates. A 
fluctuating interest rate environment may increase loan defaults, resulting in losses for the CLOs in which the Fund invests. In 
addition, fluctuating interest rates may lead to higher prepayment rates, as corporate borrowers look to avoid escalating interest 
payments or refinance floating rate loans. Further, a general rise in interest rates will increase the financing costs of the CLOs. 
However, since many of the senior secured loans within these CLOs have Benchmark floors, if the Benchmark is below the 
applicable Benchmark floor, there may not be corresponding increases in investment income which could result in the CLO not 
having adequate cash to make interest or other payments on the securities which the Fund holds.

Regulatory Risk

Government regulation and/or intervention may change the way the Fund is regulated, affect the expenses incurred 
directly by the Fund, affect the value of its investments and limit the Fund’s ability to achieve its investment objective. 
Government regulation may change frequently and may have significant adverse consequences. Moreover, government 
regulation may have unpredictable and unintended effects. In addition to exposing the Fund to potential new costs and 
expenses, additional regulation or changes to existing regulation may also require changes to the Fund’s investment practices. 

Credit Risk

Credit risk relates to the ability of the borrower under an instrument to make interest and principal payments as they 
become due. If (1) a CLO in which the Fund invests, (2) an underlying asset of any such CLO or (3) any other type of credit 
investment in the Fund’s portfolio declines in price or fails to pay interest or principal when due because the issuer or debtor, as 
the case may be, experiences a decline in its financial status, our income, NAV and/or market price would be adversely 
impacted.

Credit Spread Risk

Credit spread risk is the risk that credit spreads (i.e., the difference in yield between securities that is due to differences 
in their credit quality) may increase when the market expects below-investment-grade bonds to default more frequently. 
Widening credit spreads may quickly reduce the market values of below-investment-grade and unrated securities. In recent 
years, the U.S. capital markets experienced extreme volatility and disruption following the spread of COVID-19, which 
increased the spread between yields realized on risk-free and higher risk securities, resulting in illiquidity in parts of the capital 
markets. Central banks and governments played a key role in reintroducing liquidity to parts of the capital markets. Future exits 
of these financial institutions from the market may reintroduce temporary illiquidity. These and future market disruptions and/
or illiquidity would be expected to have an adverse effect on the Fund’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows.

Prepayment Risk 

The assets underlying the CLO securities are subject to prepayment by the underlying corporate borrowers. In 
addition, the CLO securities and related investments are subject to prepayment risk. If the Fund or a CLO collateral manager is 
unable to reinvest prepaid amounts in a new investment with an expected rate of return at least equal to that of the investment 
repaid, the Fund’s investment performance will be adversely impacted.
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Volatility Risk

Volatility risk refers to the magnitude of the movement, but not the direction of the movement, in a financial 
instrument’s price over a defined time period. Large increases or decreases in a financial instrument’s price over a relative time 
period typically indicate greater volatility risk, while small increases or decreases in its price typically indicate lower volatility 
risk.

Equity Risk

Equity risk relates to the change in value of equity securities as they relate to increases or decreases in the general 
market. 

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Foreign exchange rate risk relates to the change in the U.S. dollar value of a security held that is denominated in a 
foreign currency. The U.S. dollar value of a foreign currency denominated security will decrease as the dollar appreciates 
against the currency, while the U.S. dollar value will increase as the dollar depreciates against the currency.

Cybersecurity Risk

Cybersecurity incidents and cyber-attacks have been occurring globally at a more frequent and severe level and will 
likely continue to increase in frequency in the future. The Adviser faces various security threats on a regular basis, including 
ongoing cyber security threats to and attacks on its information technology infrastructure that are intended to gain access to its 
proprietary information, destroy data or disable, degrade or sabotage its systems. These security threats could originate from a 
wide variety of sources, including unknown third parties outside of the Adviser. Although the Adviser is not currently aware 
that it has been subject to cyber-attacks or other cyber incidents which, individually or in the aggregate, have materially affected 
its operations or financial condition, there can be no assurance that the various procedures and controls utilized to mitigate these 
threats will be sufficient to prevent disruptions to its systems.

6. BORROWINGS

 In accordance with the Investment Company Act, the Fund is currently only allowed to borrow amounts such that its 
asset coverage, as defined in the Investment Company Act, is 300% or more for leverage obtained through debt or 200% or 
more for leverage obtained through preferred shares. As of September 30, 2024, asset coverage on the Fund’s Series A Term 
Preferred Shares and Series B Convertible Preferred Shares was 285%.

7. PREFERRED SHARES

8.75% Series A Term Preferred Shares

On October 24, 2023, the Fund issued 1,200,000 shares of 8.75% Series A Term Preferred Shares due October 31, 
2028, for aggregate gross proceeds of $30,000,000. On November 6, 2023, pursuant to the overallotment option granted to the 
Underwriters in the Underwriting Agreement, dated October 18, 2023, the Fund issued 80,000 additional shares for gross 
proceeds of $2,000,000. On November 30, 2023, the Fund issued an additional 800,000 shares for gross proceeds of 
$20,000,000. The shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CCIA”. The following table 
summarizes the details of the Fund’s Series A Term Preferred Shares:

Initial Issuance 
Date

Redemption 
Date

Dividend 
Rate

Share 
Amount

Price Per 
share Total Raise

Series A Term 
Preferred Shares 10/24/2023 10/31/2028  8.75 %  2,080,000 $ 25.00 $ 52,000,000 

Each holder of Series A Term Preferred Shares is entitled to a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share (the 
“Liquidation Preference”), plus an amount equal to accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, on such shares (whether or not 
earned or declared, but excluding interest on such dividends) to, but excluding, the date fixed for such redemption. The Fund is 
required to redeem all outstanding shares of the Series A Term Preferred Shares on October 31, 2028 (the “Mandatory 
Redemption Date”), at a redemption price equal to the Liquidation Preference plus an amount equal to accumulated but unpaid 
dividends, if any, to the date of redemption. The Fund cannot effect any modification of or repeal of the Fund’s obligation to 
redeem the Series A Term Preferred Shares on the Mandatory Redemption Date without the prior, unanimous approval of the 
holders of the Series A Term Preferred Shares. At any time on or after October 31, 2025, (the “Optional Redemption Date”), 
the Fund may, at its sole option, redeem the outstanding Series A Term Preferred Shares in whole or, from time to time, in part, 
at the Liquidation Preference plus an amount equal to accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, on such shares. 

The holders of Series A Term Preferred Shares are entitled to receive monthly dividends at a fixed annual rate of 
8.75% of the Liquidation Preference ($2.1875 per share per year), or the dividend rate. Cumulative cash dividends on each 
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share of Series A Term Preferred Shares accumulate from and include the original issue date. Dividends on the Series A Term 
Preferred Shares are accrued daily, payable monthly in arrears, and are included in Interest expense on the Statement of 
Operations. For the year ended September 30, 2024, $4,071,840 of dividend expense related to the Series A Term Preferred 
Shares was included in interest expense on the Statement of Operations. Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the 
Series A Term Preferred Shares are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the Series A Term Preferred Shares. 
For the year ended September 30, 2024, the Fund recorded $387,610 of amortization of deferred issuance costs related to the 
Series A Term Preferred Shares. 

The Series A Term Preferred Shares are recorded net of unamortized deferred issuance costs and included as a 
liability on the Statement of Assets and Liabilities. The carrying value of the Series A Term Preferred Shares is $50,246,314. 
The Fund’s Series A Term Preferred Shares balances as of September 30, 2024, were as follows:

As of September 30, 2024
Liquidation preference $ 52,000,000 
Less: Unamortized deferred issuance costs  1,753,686 
Carrying value $ 50,246,314 
Fair value (1) $ 53,872,000 
Fair value price per share (1) $ 25.90 

(1)  Represents the September 30, 2024 closing market price per share of the Series A Term Preferred Shares on the New York Stock 
Exchange.

7.125% Series B Convertible Preferred Shares

On August 27, 2024, the Fund issued 11,517 shares of 7.125% Series B Convertible Preferred Shares due August 27, 
2029, in a private placement for aggregate gross proceeds of $11,517,000. The Series B Convertible Preferred Shares have a 
liquidation preference of $1,000.00 per share (the “Liquidation Preference”). The Series B Convertible Preferred Shares pay a 
quarterly dividend at a fixed annual rate of 7.125% of the liquidation preference, or $71.25 per share, per year. The Series B 
Convertible Preferred Shares rank senior to the common shares in priority of payment of dividends and as to the distribution of 
assets upon dissolution, liquidation, or winding up of the Fund’s affairs. The Series B Convertible Preferred Shares rank equal 
in priority with the Series A Term Preferred Shares.

Initial Issuance 
Date

Redemption 
Date

Dividend 
Rate

Share 
Amount

Price Per 
share Total Raise

Series B Convertible 
Preferred Shares 8/27/2024 8/27/2029  7.125 %  11,517 $ 1,000.00 $ 11,517,000 

At any time on or after February 27, 2025, at the Fund’s sole option, the Fund may redeem, from time to time, the 
outstanding Series B Convertible Preferred Shares in whole or in part, at a price per share equal to the sum of the Liquidation 
Preference plus an amount equal to accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, on such shares. The Fund is required to redeem, 
all outstanding Series B Convertible Preferred Shares on August 27, 2029 (the “Term Redemption Date”), at a redemption price 
equal to the Liquidation Preference plus an amount equal to accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, to the date of 
redemption. The Fund cannot effect any amendment, alteration or repeal of the Fund’s obligation to redeem all of the Series B 
Convertible Preferred Shares on the Term Redemption Redemption Date without the prior, unanimous approval of the holders 
of the Series B Convertible Preferred Shares.

Shareholders of the  Series B Convertible Preferred Shares may opt to convert the shares at any time on or after the 
date six months after the issuance of the Series B Convertible Preferred Share into common shares equal to the Liquidation 
Preference of the Series B Convertible Preferred Shares, plus an amount equal to accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, 
divided by the Conversion Price. The “Conversion Price” is the greater of (i) the market price per common share, represented 
by the average official closing price for the five trading days immediately prior to the date of exercise, or (ii) the Fund’s most 
recently reported net asset value per common share immediately prior to the date of exercise. If the Fund fails to fulfill its 
obligations to deliver common shares upon conversion, the quarterly dividend rate payable on the Series B Convertible 
Preferred Shares will increase to a fixed annual rate of 9.125% of the liquidation preference until the date on which the Fund 
fulfills its delivery obligations. No holder of Series B Convertible Preferred Shares may exercise its conversion right if upon 
conversion the holder would receive Common Shares that would cause funds and accounts managed by the investment adviser 
to such funds and account and any person controlled by the parent company of such investment adviser to beneficially own in 
the aggregate more than 4.9% of the Common Shares. In addition, notwithstanding anything in the Fund's Declaration of Trust 
to the contrary, no holder of Series B Convertible Preferred Shares that is an investment company (as defined in the 1940 Act) 
or would be an investment company but for Section 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act may exercise its conversion privilege or 
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be entitled to receive Common Shares upon the exercise of its conversion privilege, to the extent (but only to the extent) that the 
receipt of such Common Shares would cause such holder to become, directly or indirectly, a beneficial owner of more than 3% 
of the Fund's outstanding voting securities. 

For the year ended September 30, 2024, $77,500 of dividend expense related to the Series B Convertible Preferred 
Shares was included in interest expense on the Statement of Operations. Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the 
Series B Convertible Preferred Shares are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the Series B Convertible 
Preferred Shares. For the year ended September 30, 2024, the Fund recorded $94,308 of amortization of deferred issuance costs 
related to the Series B Convertible Preferred Shares. 

The Series B Convertible Preferred Shares are recorded net of unamortized deferred issuance costs and included as a 
liability on the Statement of Assets and Liabilities. The carrying value of the Series B Convertible Preferred Shares is 
$10,625,118. The Fund’s Series B Convertible Preferred Shares balance as of September 30, 2024, is as follows:

As of September 30, 2024
Liquidation preference $ 11,517,000 
Less: Unamortized deferred issuance costs  891,882 
Carrying value $ 10,625,118 
Fair value (1) $ 10,625,118 
Fair value price per share (1) $ 922.56 

(1)  The Series B Convertible Preferred Shares are recorded at carrying value, which approximates fair value.

Except where otherwise stated in the 1940 Act or the Fund's Declaration of Trust, each holder of Series A Term 
Preferred Shares or Series B Convertible Preferred Shares will be entitled to one vote for each share of preferred shares held on 
each matter submitted to a vote of the Fund's shareholders. The Fund's preferred stockholders and common shareholders will 
vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to the Fund's shareholders. Additionally, the Fund's preferred 
shareholders will have the right to elect two Preferred Trustees at all times, while the Fund's preferred shareholders and 
common shareholders, voting together as a single class, will elect the remaining members of the Board.

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Fund is not currently subject to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, the Fund may be a party to 
certain legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business, including proceedings relating to the enforcement of the Fund’s 
rights under contracts with its portfolio companies. While the outcomes of these legal proceedings, if any, cannot be predicted 
with certainty, the Fund does not expect that these proceedings will have a material effect upon its financial condition or results 
of operations.

9. CAPITAL

The Fund has an unlimited amount of common shares, no par value, authorized and 15,387,448 issued and 
outstanding. Transactions in common shares for the year ended September 30, 2024 were as follows:

Year Ended 
September 30, 2024

Beginning Shares  11,725,357 
Shares issued through dividend reinvestment  113,177 
Shares issued pursuant to the ATM program  2,104,049 
Shares issued pursuant to a registered direct placement  1,444,865 
Ending Shares  15,387,448 

At-The-Market (“ATM”) Program

On October 4, 2023, the Fund entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement with Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc, B. 
Riley Securities, Inc., and Oppenheimer & Co Inc. (the “Placement Agents”) that allows for the offer and sale of up to 
$75,000,000 aggregate amount of the Fund’s common shares, through the Placement Agents, made by an at-the-market offering 
as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933. The minimum price on any day at which common shares may be sold 
will not be below the current net asset value of such common shares. For the year ended September 30, 2024, the Fund sold a 
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total of 2,104,049 common shares pursuant to the ATM program. The total amount of capital raised under these issuances was 
$17,075,865 and net proceeds were $16,791,777 after deducting the Placement Agents’ commissions and offering expenses.

Registered Direct Placement of Common Shares

On August 26, 2024, the Fund entered into a purchase agreement for the purchase and sale of common shares in a 
registered direct placement pursuant to the Fund’s effective shelf registration filed with the SEC. On August 27, 2024, the Fund 
sold 1,444,865 common shares raising approximately $11.5 million in proceeds before expenses. The offering, which was 
accretive to shareholders, was executed at a price above the Fund’s NAV per common share.
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10. TAX 

The Fund has not recorded a liability for any uncertain tax positions pursuant to the provisions of ASC 740, Income 
Taxes, as of September 30, 2024.

In the normal course of business, the Fund is subject to examination by federal and certain state, local and foreign tax 
regulators. The Fund’s federal tax returns are generally subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service for a period of 
three years after they are filed.

The tax components of capital shown in the following table represent distribution requirements the Fund must satisfy 
under the income tax regulations, losses the Fund may be able to offset against income and gains realized in future years and 
unrealized appreciation or depreciation of securities and other investments for federal income tax purposes. The capital loss 
carryforward is subject to limitations in future years under the Code and related regulations.

Total Distributable 
Earnings

Accumulated Loss 
Carryforward

Post October Loss 
and Late  Year 

Loss
Other Timing 

Differences

Net Unrealized Appreciation 
Based on Cost of Securities and 
Other Investments for Federal 

Income Tax Purposes
$— $(10,920,270) $(5,776,707) $— $8,999,520

Net investment income (loss) and net realized gain (loss) may differ for financial statement and tax purposes. The 
character of dividends and distributions made during the fiscal year from net investment income or net realized gains are 
determined in accordance with federal income tax requirements, which may differ from the character of net investment income 
or net realized gains presented in those financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Also, due to timing of dividends 
and distributions, the fiscal year in which amounts are distributed may differ from the fiscal year in which the income or net 
realized gain was recorded by the Fund.

Accordingly, the following amounts have been reclassified for the reporting period. Net assets of the Fund were 
unaffected by the reclassifications.

Reduction to Paid-in-Capital Increase to Retained Earnings
$481,918 $481,918

The tax character of dividends paid on common shares for the years ended September 30, 2024 and September 30, 
2023 were as follows:

 Year ended September 30,
 2024 2023
Ordinary income $ 427,365 $ 4,512,176 
Tax return of capital $ 15,218,076 $ 4,166,758 

The aggregate cost of securities and other investments and the composition of unrealized appreciation and depreciation 
of securities and other investments for federal income tax purposes at period end are noted in the following table. The primary 
difference between book and tax appreciation or depreciation of securities and other investments, if applicable, is attributable to 
the partnerships and non-deductible expenses adjustments 

For the Year Ended 
September 30, 2024

Federal tax cost of securities $ 164,454,393 
Gross unrealized appreciation $ 21,997,656 
Gross unrealized depreciation $ (12,998,136) 

Net unrealized appreciation $ 8,999,520 
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11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

For the period from October 1, 2024 to November 20, 2024, the Fund sold 680,577 of common shares, pursuant to the 
ATM offering, for total net proceeds to the Fund of $5,506,621. In connection with such sales, the Fund paid a total of 
$112,383 in Placement Agent commissions.

On October 31, 2024, the Fund paid a monthly dividend of $0.1050 per common share to holders of record on October 
21, 2024. Additionally, on November 20, 2024, the Fund declared dividends of $0.1050 per common share, payable on each of 
December 31, 2024, January 31, 2025, and February 28, 2025, to holders of record as of December 18, 2024, January 21, 2025, 
and February 18, 2025, respectively. 

On October 31, 2024, the Fund paid a monthly dividend of $0.1823 per share on its 8.75% Series A Term Preferred 
Shares to holders of record on October 21, 2024. Additionally, on November 20, 2024, the Fund declared dividends of $0.1823 
per share on its 8.75% Series A Term Preferred Shares, payable on each of December 31, 2024, January 31, 2025, and February 
28, 2025, to holders of record as of December 18, 2024, January 21, 2025, and February 18, 2025, respectively. 

The Fund evaluated subsequent events through the date the financial statements were issued and noted no other events 
that require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.
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RESULTS OF SHAREHOLDER MEETING  

At the Annual Meeting of Shareholders (“Annual Meeting”) held on September 5, 2024, shareholders approved the election of 
Joan McCabe as a Class II Trustee to the Board of Trustees to serve a term expiring in 2026 based on the following results:
Total Outstanding Shares 2,080,000
Total Shares Voted 1,139,687
For 1,026,082
Withheld 113,605

At the Annual Meeting, shareholders approved the election of Lauren Basmadjian as a Class III Trustee to the Board of 
Trustees to serve a term expiring in 2027 based on the following results:
Total Outstanding Shares 2,080,000
Total Shares Voted 1,139,687
For 1,022,938
Withheld 116,749

At the Annual Meeting, shareholders approved the election of Sanjeev Handa as a Class III Trustee to the Board of Trustees to 
serve a term expiring in 2027 based on the following results:
Total Outstanding Shares 15,444,911
Total Shares Voted 12,065,508
For 11,705,017
Withheld 360,491

The Fund’s other Trustees, Mark Garbin and Brian Marcus continued to serve their respective terms following the Annual 
Meeting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Shareholders and the Board of Trustees of Carlyle Credit Income Fund 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities of Carlyle Credit Income Fund (the “Fund”), 
including the schedule of investments, as of September 30, 2024, and the related statements of operations and 
cash flows for the year then ended, the statements of changes in net assets and financial highlights for each of the 
two  years in the period then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In 
our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Fund at 
September 30, 2024, the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended, the changes in its net 
assets and financial highlights for each of the two years in the period then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying financial highlights of the Fund for the three years in the period ended September 30, 2022 were 
audited by another independent registered public accounting firm whose report, dated December 12, 2022, 
expressed unqualified opinions on the financial statements of the Fund containing those financial highlights.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Fund’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Fund in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Fund is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an 
audit of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our 
procedures included confirmation of investments owned as of September 30, 2024, by correspondence directly with 
the custodians and counterparties. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the auditor of one or more CGCIM investment companies since 2020. 

New York, NY
November 20, 2024
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PRICE RANGE OF COMMON SHARES

Our common shares began trading on May 29, 2019 and are currently traded on the NYSE under the symbol “CCIF.” 
Prior to July 27, 2023, the Fund’s common shares traded on NYSE under the symbol “VCIF.” The following table lists the high 
and low closing sale price for our common shares, the high and low closing sale price as a percentage of NAV and distributions 
declared per common share for each quarter since October 1, 2021. 

Period NAV (1) High Low

Premium 
(Discount) 

of High 
Sales Price 
to NAV (2)

Premium 
(Discount) 

of Low 
Sales Price 
to NAV (2)

Distributions 
Declared (3)

Fiscal year ending September 30, 2022
First quarter 11.32 10.69 9.98 (5.57)% (11.84)% 0.3381
Second quarter 10.97 10.33 9.77 (5.83)% (10.94)% 0.2271
Third quarter 10.65 10.00 9.07 (6.10)% (14.84)% 0.2194
Fourth quarter 10.39 9.75 8.90 (6.16)% (14.34)% 0.2139
Fiscal year ending September 30, 2023
First quarter 10.26 9.53 8.47 (7.12)% (17.45)% 0.2068
Second quarter 10.12 10.10 8.61 (0.20)% (14.92)% 0.2050
Third quarter 9.96 10.03 9.70 0.70% (2.61)% 0.2022
Fourth quarter 8.42 9.95 7.72 18.17% (8.31)% 0.2096

Fiscal year ending September 30, 2024

First quarter 7.99 8.16 7.48 2.13% (6.38)% 0.2982

Second quarter 7.88 8.16 7.78 3.55% (1.27)% 0.3038

Third quarter 7.68 8.60 7.73 11.98% 0.65% 0.3150

Fourth quarter 7.64 8.75 7.75 14.53% 1.44% 0.3150

1. NAV per common share is determined as of the last day in the relevant quarter and therefore may not reflect the NAV per common 
share on the date of the high and low sales prices. The NAVs shown are based on outstanding common shares at the end of each 
period. 

2. Calculated as of the respective high or low closing sales price divided by the quarter end NAV. 

3. Represents the cash distributions (including dividends, dividends reinvested and returns of capital, if any) per common share that 
we have declared on our common shares in the specified quarter. Tax characteristics of distributions will vary. 

Common shares of closed-end management investment companies may trade at a market price that is less than the 
NAV that is attributable to those common shares. The possibility that our common shares will trade at a discount to NAV or at 
a premium to NAV that is unsustainable over the long term is separate and distinct from the risk that our NAV will decrease. It 
is not possible to predict whether our common shares will trade at, above or below NAV in the future. Our NAV per common 
share was $7.64 as of September 30, 2024. The closing sales price for common shares on the NYSE on September 30, 2024 was 
$8.23 which represented a 7.72% premium to NAV per common share.
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DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

The Fund operates under the DRP administered by Equiniti. Pursuant to the DRP, the Fund’s Distributions, net of any 
applicable U.S. withholding tax, are reinvested in the same class of shares of the Fund.

Shareholders automatically participate in the DRP, unless and until an election is made to withdraw from the plan on 
behalf of such participating Shareholder. A Shareholder who does not wish to have Distributions automatically reinvested may 
terminate participation in the DRP by written instructions to that effect to Equiniti. Shareholders who elect not to participate in 
the DRP will receive all distributions in cash paid to the Shareholder of record (or, if the shares are held in street or other 
nominee name, then to such nominee). Such written instructions must be received by Equiniti within 15 days prior to the 
applicable dividend payment date, or the Shareholder will receive such Distribution in shares through the DRP. Under the DRP, 
the Fund’s Distributions to Shareholders are automatically reinvested in full and fractional shares as described below.

When the Fund declares a dividend, capital gain or other distribution (each, a “Distribution” and collectively, 
“Distributions”) Equiniti, on the Shareholder’s behalf, will receive additional authorized shares from the Fund either newly 
issued or repurchased from Shareholders by the Fund and held as treasury stock. Distributions that are reinvested through the 
issuance of new shares increase our Shareholders’ equity on which a management fee is payable to the Adviser. The number of 
shares to be received when Distributions are reinvested will be determined by dividing the amount of the Distribution by 95% 
of the market price per share of the Fund’s common stock at the close of regular trading on the NYSE. The newly issued shares 
would be issued whether our shares are trading at a premium or discount to NAV. However, the Fund reserves the right to 
purchase shares in the open market in connection with the implementation of the DRP to the extent that shares are trading at a 
price below NAV per share. Shares purchased in open market transactions by the plan administrator will be allocated to a 
Shareholder based on the average purchase price, excluding any brokerage charges or other charges, of all shares purchased in 
the open market.

Equiniti will maintain all Shareholder accounts and furnish written confirmations of all transactions in the accounts, 
including information needed by Shareholders for personal and tax records. Equiniti will hold shares in the account of the 
Shareholders in non-certificated form in the name of the participant, and each Shareholder’s proxy, if any, will include those 
shares purchased pursuant to the DRP. Each participant, nevertheless, has the right to request certificates for whole and 
fractional shares owned. The Fund will issue certificates in its sole discretion. Equiniti will distribute all proxy solicitation 
materials, if any, to participating Shareholders.

In the case of Shareholders, such as banks, brokers or nominees, that hold shares for others who are beneficial owners 
participating under the DRP, Equiniti will administer the DRP on the basis of the number of shares certified from time to time 
by the record shareholder as representing the total amount of shares registered in the Shareholder’s name and held for the 
account of beneficial owners participating under the DRP.

Neither Equiniti nor the Fund shall have any responsibility or liability beyond the exercise of ordinary care for any 
action taken or omitted pursuant to the DRP, nor shall they have any duties, responsibilities or liabilities except such as 
expressly set forth herein. Neither shall they be liable hereunder for any act done in good faith or for any good faith omissions 
to act, including, without limitation, failure to terminate a participant’s account prior to receipt of written notice of his or her 
death or with respect to prices at which shares are purchased or sold for the participant’s account and the terms on which such 
purchases and sales are made, subject to applicable provisions of the federal securities laws.

The automatic reinvestment of Distributions will not relieve participants of any federal, state or local income tax that 
may be payable (or required to be withheld) on such Distributions. See “U.S. Federal Income Tax Matters.”

The Fund reserves the right to amend or terminate the DRP upon 60 days’ notice to Shareholders. There is no direct 
service charge to participants with regard to purchases under the DRP; however, the Fund reserves the right to amend the DRP 
to include a service charge payable by the participants.

All correspondence concerning the DRP should be directed to Equiniti at 6201 15th Ave., Brooklyn, NY 11219. 
Certain transactions can be performed by calling the toll free number (866) 277-8243.
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MANAGEMENT OF THE FUND 

The Fund’s business and affairs are managed under the direction of the Board. The Board currently consists of five members, 
three of whom are not “interested persons” of the Fund as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Investment Company Act. The 
Fund refers to these individuals as its independent trustees. The Board annually elects the Fund’s officers, who serve at the 
discretion of the Board. The Board maintains an audit committee, a nominating and governance committee and an independent 
trustees committee and may establish additional committees from time to time as necessary.

Board of Trustees and Officers

Trustees

Name, Address (1), 
Age

Position(s) 
Held with 
the Trust

Term of Office and 
Length of Time 
Served (2)

Principal Occupation(s) 
During Past 5 Years

Number of 
Portfolios in 
Fund Complex 
Overseen by 
Trustee

Other Directorships Held by 
Trustee

Interested Trustees (2)

Brian Marcus 
(1983)

Trustee Class I Board 
member until 2025 
annual shareholder 
meeting. –since July 
2023

Managing Director, The 
Carlyle Group Inc. (Since 
2021);Principal, Carlyle 
Group (2018 –2020); Vice 
President, The Carlyle 
Group Inc. (2015 – 2017)

2 None

Lauren 
Basmadjian (1979)

Trustee Class III Board 
member until 2027 
annual shareholder 
meeting. – since 
July 2023

Managing Director, The 
Carlyle Group Inc. (Since 
2020); Senior Portfolio 
Manager, Octagon Credit 
Investors, LLC (2001 to 
2020)

1 None

Independent Trustees
Mark Garbin 
(1951)

Trustee Class I Board 
member until 2025 
annual shareholder 
meeting –since July 
2023

Managing Principal,
Coherent Capital
Management LLC
(since 2008)

2 Independent Trustee of Two Roads 
Shared Trust (since 2012), 
Forethought Variable Insurance 
Trust (since 2013), Northern Lights 
Fund Trust (since 2013), Northern 
Lights Variable Trust (since 2013), 
iCapital KKR Private Markets 
Fund (since 2014), Independent 
Director of OHA CLO Enhanced 
Equity II Genpar LLP (since 2021), 
and Independent Trustee, Carlyle 
Tactical Private Credit Fund (since 
2018).

Sanjeev Handa 
(1961)

Trustee Class III Board 
member until 2027 
annual shareholder 
meeting –since July 
2023

Managing Member, Old 
Orchard Lane, LLC (since 
2014); Adjunct Professor, 
Fairfield University (since 
2020)

2 Advisory Board Member of White 
Oak Partners (since 2021) and 
Independent Director of OHA CLO 
Enhanced Equity II Genpar LLP 
(since 2021), Independent Trustee, 
Carlyle Tactical Private Credit 
Fund (since March 2018); Board of 
Trustees Investment Committee 
Member for the Cooper Union for 
Advancement of Science and Art 
(since 2016); Board of Directors 
Member for the Mutual Fund 
Directors Forum (Since 2022); 
Independent Director of Fitch 
Ratings, Inc.(2015-2020).

Joan McCabe 
(1955)

Trustee Class II Board 
member until 2026 
annual shareholder 
meeting. –since July 
2023

Managing Member, 
JMYME, LLC (since 
2020); and CEO/Founder, 
Lipotriad LLC (2015-
2019)

2 Board member of Elevation Brands 
(since 2017 to 11/2022);Sensible 
Organics (2017-2021); Goodwill 
International, Inc. (2015-2021); 
Gulfstream Goodwill, Inc. (since 
2017; Board Chair since 2021); 
Gulfstream Goodwill Academy, 
Inc. (since 2017), Goodwill 
International (2015-2021) 
Independent Trustee Carlyle 
Tactical Private Credit Fund (since 
2018).

(1) The address of each Trustee is care of the Secretary of the Fund at One Vanderbilt Avenue, Suite 3400, New York, NY 10017.
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(2) “Interested person,” as defined in the 1940 Act, of the Fund. Mr. Marcus and Ms. Basmadjian are interested persons of the Fund due to their 

affiliation with the Adviser.

Officers

Lauren Basmadjian
(1979)

President, Principal 
Executive Officer 

Indefinite Length – 
since July 2023

Managing Director, The Carlyle Group Inc. (Since 2020); Senior 
Portfolio Manager, Octagon Credit Investors, LLC (2001 to 2020)

Nelson Joseph 
(1979)

Principal Financial 
Officer, Principal 
Accounting 
Officer, and 
Treasurer 

Indefinite Length – 
since July 2023

Principal, Carlyle Group (Since 2023); Director, Apollo Global 
Management LLC (2016 – 2022) 

Joshua Lefkowitz 
(1974)

Secretary; Chief 
Legal Officer

Indefinite Length – 
since July 2023

Managing Director and Chief Legal Officer (Global Credit), Carlyle 
Group (Since 2018); Principal and Associate General Counsel, Ares 
Management, Ltd. (Jan 2017 – Mar 2018); Vice President and Associate 
General Counsel, American Capital, Ltd. (Mar 2006 – Jan 2017)

Jennifer Juste
(1980)

Chief Compliance 
Officer

Indefinite Length – 
since May 2024

Vice President, Carlyle Group (Since 2022); Natixis Investment 
Managers 2019 - 2022 (Deputy Chief Compliance Officer/Deputy 
General Counsel Mirova US LLC 2020-2022 and Chief Compliance 
Officer/General Counsel Ostrum US LLC 2019-2020)

Name, address (1), 
age

Position(s) Held 
with the Trust

Term of Office and 
Length of Time 
Served Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years

(1) The address of each officer is care of the Secretary of the Fund at One Vanderbilt Avenue, Suite 3400, New York, NY 10017.

Biographical Information and Discussion of Experience and Qualifications, etc.

The following is a summary of the experience, qualifications, attributes and skills of each Trustee that support the conclusion, 
as of the date of this Annual Report, that each Trustee should serve as a Trustee of the Fund.

Interested Trustees

Brian Marcus. Brian Marcus has over 15 years of experience in highly regulated financial markets. Additionally, he is a 
Managing Director of Carlyle Global Credit Investment Management L.L.C. He also focuses on strategic growth opportunities 
for the Global Credit platform of The Carlyle Group Inc.(the ultimate parent company of CGCIM). He also helped develop 
TCG Capital Markets L.L.C., an SEC-registered broker/dealer affiliate of The Carlyle Group Inc. and has been involved in 
acquisitions of credit management platforms. Prior to coming to Carlyle, Mr. Marcus was with Morgan Stanley in the Principal 
Investments area, which used the firm’s capital in a diverse array of investments including private equity, distressed debt, and 
mezzanine. In this role, Mr. Marcus served as a director on a number of Boards. Previously, Mr. Marcus worked at Lehman 
Brothers in the mergers and acquisitions group. He received a B.S. in Economics from the Wharton School of the University of 
Pennsylvania and currently holds Series 7, 55 and 63 licenses. His service as an officer for another investment company 
contributes to his qualifications to serve as a Trustee of the Fund.

Lauren Basmadjian. Lauren Basmadjian has over 20 years of experience in financial and corporate markets. She is a Managing 
Director, Co-Head of Liquid Credit and Head of US Loans & Structured Credit within The Carlyle Group Inc.’s Global Credit 
platform, overseeing over $48 billion of AUM. She is based in New York and sits on the Investment Committees for all of The 
Carlyle Group Inc.’s US Loan, CLO and Liquid and Illiquid Credit investing activities. Ms. Basmadjian joined The Carlyle 
Group Inc. in 2020 after 19 years at Octagon Credit Investors, LLC, where she was a Senior Portfolio Manager, member of the 
Investment Committee and managed XAI Octagon Floating Rate & Alternative Income Term Trust, a public 1940 Act fund 
invested in CLO tranches and leveraged loans. Prior to becoming a Portfolio Manager, Ms. Basmadjian managed Octagon’s 
workout efforts and also oversaw the leisure & entertainment, retail, consumer products, business services, food & beverage 
and technology industries. Before joining Octagon, Ms. Basmadjian worked in the Acquisition Finance Group at Chase 
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Securities, Inc. She graduated Cum Laude from the Stern School of Business at New York University with a B.S. in Finance 
and Economics. Her diverse experience and financial background, among other things, qualifies her to serve as a Trustee.

Independent Trustees

Mark Garbin. Mark Garbin has over 30 years of experience in corporate balance sheet and income statement risk management 
for large asset managers. Mr. Garbin has extensive derivatives experience and has provided consulting services to alternative 
asset managers. Mr. Garbin holds the CFA and Professional Risk Manager (PRM) Charters and has advanced degrees in 
international business, negotiation and derivatives. He also has extensive experience with respect to investments and also to 
compliance and corporate governance matters as a result of, among other things, his service as a board member to other 
investment companies.

Sanjeev Handa. Sanjeev Handa has over 30 years of experience in the financial industry sector, including global experience in 
the financial, real estate and securitization markets. Mr. Handa is also an advisory board member of White Oak Partners (since 
2021), and a member of the Investment Committee of the Board of Trustees of The Cooper Union for Advancement of Science 
and Art. He also formerly served as an independent director of Fitch Ratings, Inc. and Fitch Ratings, Ltd. (2015-2020). Mr. 
Handa also serves as an independent director of OHA CLO Enhanced Equity II Genpar LLP (since 2021). Mr. Handa has 
extensive experience with respect to investments and also to compliance and corporate governance matters as a result of, among 
other things, his service as a board member to another investment company. He also serves as an audit committee chairman and 
audit committee financial expert for another investment company.

Joan McCabe. Joan McCabe has over 30 years of financial and corporate experience, including investing in private equity 
along with debt financings for those private equity investments. Ms. McCabe is also a board member of Gulfstream Goodwill, 
Inc. (since 2017 and current Board Chair), Gulfstream Goodwill Academy, Inc. (since 2018) and Elevation Brands (since 
2017). She formerly served as a board member of Goodwill International, Inc. (2015-2021) and Sensible Organics (2017-2021). 
Ms. McCabe has served as a board member to a variety of companies, including another investment company, and her diverse 
experience and financial background, among other things, qualifies her to serve as a Trustee.

The Fund’s statement of additional information includes additional information about the Trustees and is available (i) without 
charge, upon request, by calling the Fund toll-free at (866) 277-8243.
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PORTFOLIO PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROXY VOTING RECORD (Unaudited) 

The Fund has delegated its proxy voting responsibility to the Adviser. The proxy voting policies and procedures 
of the Adviser are set forth below. The guidelines are reviewed periodically by the Adviser and the Independent Trustees 
and, accordingly, are subject to change. Based on the nature of the registrant’s investment strategy, the Adviser does not 
expect to receive proxy proposals but may from time to time receive amendments, consents or resolutions applicable to 
investments held by the Fund. 

It is the policy of the Fund to delegate the responsibility for voting proxies relating to portfolio securities held 
by the Fund to the Fund’s Adviser as a part of the Adviser’s general management of the Fund’s portfolio, subject to the 
continuing oversight of the Board. The Board has delegated such responsibility to the Adviser, and directs the Adviser to 
vote proxies relating to portfolio securities held by the Fund consistent with the proxy voting policies and procedures. 
The Adviser may retain one or more vendors to review, monitor and recommend how to vote proxies in a manner 
consistent with the proxy voting policies and procedures, to ensure that such proxies are voted on a timely basis and to 
provide reporting and/or record retention services in connection with proxy voting for the Fund. 

The right to vote a proxy with respect to portfolio securities held by the Fund is an asset of the Fund. The 
Adviser, to which authority to vote on behalf of the Fund is delegated, acts as a fiduciary of the Fund and must vote 
proxies in a manner consistent with the best interest of the Fund and its Shareholders. In discharging this fiduciary duty, 
the Adviser must maintain and adhere to its policies and procedures for addressing conflicts of interest and must vote 
proxies in a manner substantially consistent with its policies, procedures and guidelines, as presented to the Board.

The Fund shall file an annual report of each proxy voted with respect to portfolio securities of the Fund during 
the twelve-month period ended June 30 on Form N-PX not later than August 31 of each year. The Fund’s voting record 
is available (i) without charge, upon request, by calling the Fund toll-free at (866) 277-8243, (ii) free of charge on our 
website (www.carlylecreditincomefund.com), and (iii) in the Form N-PX filing on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

The Fund files its complete schedule of portfolio holdings with the SEC for the first quarter and the third quarter 
of each fiscal year on Form N-PORT. The Fund’s Form N-PORT filings are available on the SEC’s website at 
www.sec.gov.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

CARLYLE CREDIT INCOME FUND

Adviser Carlyle Global Credit Investment Management L.L.C.

Transfer Agent Equiniti Trust Company LLC, (formerly known as American Stock Transfer & Trust 
Company)

Legal Counsel Dechert LLP

Ticker Symbols
   Common Shares CCIF
   Preferred Shares CCIA

© 2024 The Carlyle Group Inc. All rights reserved.

PRIVACY NOTICE
As a Carlyle Credit Income Fund shareholder, you are entitled to know how we protect your personal information and how we limit its 
disclosure.

Information Sources
We obtain non-public personal information about our shareholders from transactions with us, our affiliates, or others.

Protection of Information
We do not disclose any non-public personal information (such as names on a customer list) about current or former customers to anyone, 
except as permitted by law.

Disclosure of Information
We may use details about you and your investments to help us, our financial service affiliates, or firms that jointly market their financial 
products and services with ours, to better serve your investment needs or suggest educational material that may be of interest to you. If this 
requires us to provide you with an opportunity to “opt in” or “opt out” of such information sharing with a firm not affiliated with us, you will 
receive notification on how to do so, before any such sharing takes place.

Right of Refusal
We will not disclose your personal information to unaffiliated third parties (except as permitted by law), unless we first offer you a reasonable 
opportunity to refuse or “opt out” of such disclosure.

Other Security Measures
We maintain physical, electronic and procedural safeguards to protect your personal account information. Our employees and agents have 
access to that information only so that they may offer you products or provide services, for example, when responding to your account 
questions.

Who We Are
This notice describes the privacy policy of the Carlyle Credit Income Fund. In the event it is updated or changed, we will post an updated 
notice on our website at www.CarlyleCreditIncomeFund.com. If you have any questions about this privacy policy, write to us at 6201 15th 
Ave., Brooklyn. NY 11219 or call us at (866) 277-8243.
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This report must be preceded or accompanied by a prospectus. 

Visit Us
CarlyleCreditIncomeFund.com

Call Us
866 277 8243

The Fund’s transfer agent is Equiniti Trust Company, LLC
6201 15th Ave., Brooklyn, NY 11219
All rights reserved.
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